UNILATERAL ACTS OF STATES

[Agenda item 5]

DOCUMENT A/CN.4/557

Eighth report on unilateral acts of States, by Mr. Víctor Rodríguez Cedeño, Special Rapporteur

[Original: Spanish] [26 May 2005]

CONTENTS

| | | | Page |
|--|--|--|--|
| Multilateral instruments cited in the present report | | | 119 |
| s cited | in the present report | | 120 |
| | | Paragraphs | |
| DUCTIO | N | 1–12 | 121 |
| er | | | |
| Con | SIDERATION OF CERTAIN ACTS. | 13–167 | 123 |
| A. | Note dated 22 November 1952 from the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Colombia | 13–35 | 123 |
| B. | Statement by the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Cuba concerning the supply of vaccines to the Eastern Republic of Uruguay | 36–43 | 125 |
| C. | Waiver by Jordan of claims to the West Bank territories | 44–54 | 126 |
| D. | Declaration by Egypt of 24 April 1957 | 55-69 | 126 |
| E. | Statements made by the Government of France concerning the suspension of nuclear tests in the South Pacific | 70-83 | 128 |
| F. | Protests by the Russian Federation against Azerbaijan and Turkmenistan | 84-105 | 129 |
| G. | Statements made by nuclear-weapon States | 106-115 | 130 |
| H. | Ihlen declaration of 22 July 1919 | 116-126 | 131 |
| I. | Truman Proclamation of 28 September 1945 | 127-137 | 132 |
| J. | Statements concerning the United Nations and its staff members (tax exemptions and privileges) | 138-156 | 133 |
| K. | Conduct of Cambodia and Thailand with reference to the <i>Temple of Preah Vihear</i> case | 157-167 | 135 |
| Con | ICLUSIONS THAT CAN BE DRAWN FROM THE STATEMENTS ANALYSED | 168-208 | 136 |
| | CON A. B. C. D. E. F. G. H. I. J. K. | Consideration of certain acts. A. Note dated 22 November 1952 from the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Colombia B. Statement by the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Cuba concerning the supply of vaccines to the Eastern Republic of Uruguay C. Waiver by Jordan of claims to the West Bank territories D. Declaration by Egypt of 24 April 1957. E. Statements made by the Government of France concerning the suspension of nuclear tests in the South Pacific F. Protests by the Russian Federation against Azerbaijan and Turkmenistan G. Statements made by nuclear-weapon States H. Ihlen declaration of 22 July 1919 I. Truman Proclamation of 28 September 1945 J. Statements concerning the United Nations and its staff members (tax exemptions and privileges) K. Conduct of Cambodia and Thailand with reference to the <i>Temple of Preah Vihear</i> case | CONSIDERATION OF CERTAIN ACTS. A. Note dated 22 November 1952 from the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Colombia |

Multilateral instruments cited in the present report

Source

| Convention respecting the Free Navigation of the Suez Maritime Canal (Constantinople, 29 October 1888) | British and Foreign State Papers, 1887–1888, vol. LXXIX, p. 4. | |
|--|--|--|
| Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the United Nations (United Nations, 13 February 1946) | United Nations, <i>Treaty Series</i> , vol. 1, No. 4, p. 15. | |
| Convention on the Continental Shelf (Geneva, 29 April 1958) | Ibid., vol. 499, No. 7302, p. 311. | |
| | | |
| Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (London, Moscow and Washington, D.C., 1 July 1968) | Ibid., vol. 729, No. 10485, p. 161. | |
| Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (Vienna, 23 May 1969) | Ibid., vol. 1155, No. 18232, p. 331. | |
| | , | |
| United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (Montego Bay, 10 December 1982) | Ibid., vol. 1833, No. 31363, p. 3. | |
| | | |
| Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties between States and International Organizations or between International Organizations (Vienna, 21 March 1986) | A/CONF.129/15. | |

Works cited in the present report

BOLLECKER-STERN, Brigitte

"L'affaire des essais nucléaires français devant la Cour internationale de Justice", AFDI, vol. XX, 1974, pp. 299–333.

Bourgnon, Étienne

La Convention de Vienne sur les relations diplomatiques: pratique suisse. 1993. 147 p. (Mimeographed)

Brownlie, Ian

Principles of Public International Law. 6th ed., Oxford, Oxford University Press, 2003. 742 p.

Caflisch, Lucius

"La pratique suisse en matière de droit international public 1982", Annuaire suisse de droit international, vol. XXXIX, 1983, pp. 177–268.

CAHIER, Philippe

"Le comportement des États comme source de droits et d'obligations", Recueil d'études de droit international en hommage à Paul Guggenheim. Geneva, Law Faculty of the University of Geneva and Graduate Institute of International Studies, 1968, pp. 237–265.

CHRONIQUE DES FAITS INTERNATIONAUX

"Cour internationale de Justice", RGDIP, vol. IC, 1995, pp. 976-978.

Cot. Jean-Pierre

"L'arrêt de la Cour internationale de Justice dans l'affaire du temple de Préah Vihéar (Cambodge c. Thaïlande: Fond)", AFDI, vol. VIII, 1962, pp. 217–247.

"Affaires des essais nucléaires (Australie c. France et Nouvelle Zélande c. France)—demandes en indication des mesures conservatoires: ordonnances du 22 juin 1973", AFDI, vol. XIX, 1973, pp. 252–271.

Coussirat-Coustère, Vincent

"La reprise des essais nucléaires français devant la Cour internationale de Justice: observations sur l'ordonnance du 22 septembre 1995", AFDI, vol. XLI, 1995, pp. 354–364.

Daniele, Luigi

"L'ordonnance sur la demande d'examen de la situation dans l'affaire des essais nucléaires et le pouvoir de la Cour internationale de justice de régler sa propre procédure", RGDIP, vol. C, 1996, pp. 653–671.

DEGAN, V. D.

Sources of International Law. The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1997. (Developments in International Law, vol. 27)

Dehaussy, J.

"La déclaration égyptienne de 1957 sur le canal de Suez", AFDI, vol. VI, 1960, pp. 169–184.

Dupuy, Pierre Marie

"L'affaire des essais nucléaires français et le contentieux de la responsabilité internationale publique", *German Yearbook of International Law*, vol. 20, 1977, pp. 375–405.

FLORY, Maurice

"Naissance d'un État palestinien", RGDIP, vol. XCIII, 1989, pp. 385-415.

Franck, Thomas M.

"World made law: the decision of the International Court of Justice in the Nuclear Test cases", AJIL, vol. 69, 1975, pp. 612–620.

García Rico, Elena del Mar

El uso de las armas nucleares y el derecho internacional: análisis sobre la legalidad de su empleo. Madrid, Tecnos, 1999.

GARNER, James W.

"The international binding force of unilateral oral declarations", AJIL, vol. 27, 1933, pp. 493–497.

GAVIRIA LIÉVANO, Enrique

Política exterior colombiana: Los Monjes en el diferendo con Venezuela. Vol. II. Bogotá, Universidad Externado de Colombia, 2001. 180 p.

Hughes, Christopher

The Federal Constitution of Switzerland: Translation and Commentary. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1954.

HUANG, Thomas T. F.

"Some international and legal aspects of the Suez Canal question", AJIL, vol. 51, 1957, pp. 277–307.

JENNINGS, R. Y.

The Acquisition of Territory in International Law. Manchester, Manchester University Press, 1963.

JENNINGS, Sir Robert and Sir Arthur WATTS, eds.

Oppenheims's International Law. 9th ed. Vol. I, Peace, parts 2–4. Harlow, Longman, 1992.

Juste Ruiz, José

"Tribunal Internacional de Justicia—asuntos de las pruebas nucleares (Australia c. Francia; Nueva Zelanda c. Francia): sentencias de 20 de diciembre de 1974", REDI, vol. XXIX, Nos. 2–3, 1976), pp. 447–461.

"Mootness in international adjudication: the Nuclear Tests cases", *German Yearbook of International Law*, vol. 20, 1977, pp. 358–374.

Kiss, Alexandre-Charles

Répertoire de la pratique française en matière de droit international public. Vol. I. Paris, CNRS, 1962.

Lacharrière, Guy de

"Cour internationale de justice: commentaires sur la position juridique de la France à l'égard de la licéité de ses expériences nucléaires", AFDI, vol. XIX, 1973, pp. 235–251.

LAUTERPACHT, E., ed.

The Suez Canal Settlement. London, Stevens, 1960. 82 p.

MACDONALD, R. St. J. and Barbara HOUGH

"The Nuclear Tests case revisited", German Yearbook of International Law, vol. 20, 1977, pp. 337–357.

McNair, Lord

The Law of Treaties. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1961.

NASH LEICH, Marian

"Contemporary practice of the United States relating to international law", AJIL, vol. 83, 1989, pp. 348–349.

O'CONNELL D. P.

International Law. 2nd ed. Vol. 1. London, Stevens, 1970.

PECOURT GARCÍA, Enrique

"El principio del 'estoppel' y la sentencia del Tribunal Internacional de Justicia en el caso del Templo de Preah Vihear", REDI, vol. XVI, Nos. 1–3, 1963, pp. 153–166.

Pérez, Amadeo

The system of privileges and immunities applicable to the international organisations in Switzerland and to the permanent foreign delegations in Geneva. Geneva, 1997.

Perrénoud, Georges

Régime des privilèges et immunités des missions diplomatiques étrangères et des organisations internationales en Suisse. Lausanne, F. Rouge, 1949. (Thesis, University of Geneva)

ROUSSEAU, Charles

Droit International Public. Vol. I, Introduction et Sources. Paris, Sirey, 1970.

"Chronique des faits internationaux", RGDIP, vol. XCIII, 1989.

RUBIN, Alfred P.

"The international legal effects of unilateral declarations", AJIL, vol. 71, 1977, pp. 1–30.

SAGARRA TRÍAS, Eduard

"Los actos unilaterales internacionales", *in* Victoria Abellán Honrubia, ed., *Prácticas de derecho internacional público*. Barcelona, Bosch, 2001. 269 p.

Shaw, Malcolm N

International Law. 5th ed. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 2003. 1288 p.

SINCLAIR, Sir Ian

"Estoppel and acquiescence", in Vaughan Lowe and Malgosia Fitzmaurice, eds., *Fifty years of the International Court of Justice: Essays in honour of Sir Robert Jennings.* Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1996, pp. 104–120.

Sur, Serge

"Les affaires des essais nucléaires (Australie c. France, Nouvelle-Zélande c. France—C.I.J.: arrêts du 20 décembre 1974)", RGDIP, vol. LXXIX, 1975, pp. 972–1027.

Suy, Éric

Les actes juridiques unilatéraux en droit international public. Paris, LGDJ, 1962. (Thesis, University of Geneva)

121

THIERRY, Hubert

"Les arrêts du 20 décembre 1974 et les relations de la France avec la Cour internationale de justice", AFDI, vol. XX, 1974, pp. 286–298.

THIRLWAY, Hugh

"The law and procedure of the International Court of Justice 1960–1989", part I, *British Year Book of International Law*, 1989. Vol. 60, pp. 1–157.

VÁZOUEZ CARRIZOSA, Alfredo

Las relaciones de Colombia y Venezuela: la historia atormentada de dos naciones. Bogotá, Ediciones Tercer Mundo, 1983.

Visscher, Paul de

"Les aspects juridiques fondamentaux de la question de Suez", RGDIP, vol. LXII, 1958, pp. 400-445.

WHITEMAN, Marjorie M.

Digest of International Law. Vol. 3. Washington, D. C., Department of State, 1964.

Introduction

- 1. In his seventh report on unilateral acts of States¹ the Special Rapporteur presented a number of examples showing the practice of States with regard to unilateral acts. Not all of them, as stated in the report, were unilateral acts in the strict sense of the term, but references to and consideration of them remained highly relevant nonetheless. The International Law Commission considered the report, expressed a favourable opinion of the progress made on the topic, and created, in order to proceed with work on the topic, an open-ended Working Group on unilateral acts of States, chaired by Mr. Alain Pellet, which considered the proposals of the Special Rapporteur.² In the course of six sessions, the Working Group considered some of the cases presented by the Special Rapporteur and agreed that some of them would be analysed in accordance with the specific framework to be adopted on that occasion, and to which reference is made below.
- 2. Some members of the Working Group on unilateral acts of States provided assistance to the Special Rapporteur by sending information on specific cases. The contributions of Messrs. Brownlie, Chee, Daoudi, Kolodkin, Matheson, Opertti Badan and Pellet are highly appreciated; they made very interesting and useful contributions which formed the basis of the research conducted in 2005.
- 3. The topic of unilateral acts was broached in the Sixth Committee of the General Assembly at its fifty-ninth session. During that debate, various delegations reaffirmed their view of unilateral acts as a source of international obligations.³ It was emphasized that in the following stage

a definition of unilateral acts should be developed based on the operative text adopted by the Working Group on unilateral acts of States in 2003. Furthermore, an effort should be made to formulate a number of general rules applicable to all unilateral acts and declarations considered by the Special Rapporteur in the light of State practice, with a view to promoting the stability and predictability of their mutual relations.⁴ The Commission should offer a clear definition of unilateral acts of States capable of producing legal effects, with sufficient flexibility to leave States a timely margin for manoeuvre in order to be able to carry out their political acts.⁵ The delegations noted that it would be useful to proceed with a study of the evolution of different acts and declarations, 6 especially as regards their author, their form, the subjective elements they contain, their revocability and validity, and the reactions of third States.7 The importance accorded to State practice was a step towards enabling progress to be made in the study of the topic.8

¹ Yearbook ... 2004, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/542.

² Ibid., vol. II (Part Two), paras. 189-190.

³ See Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-ninth Session, Sixth Committee, 22nd–25th meetings (A/C.6/59/SR.22–A/C.6/59/SR.25).

⁴ See, *inter alia*, the views of Chile (*ibid.*, 22nd meeting, para. 84), Guatemala (*ibid.* 24th meeting, para. 29), Australia (*ibid.*, 25th meeting, para. 42) and Romania (*ibid.*, para. 18).

⁵ See, in that connection, the views of Germany (*ibid.*, 23rd meeting, paras. 66–67), China (*ibid.*, para. 72), Canada (*ibid.*, para. 77), Malaysia (*ibid.*, 25th meeting, para. 36), Australia (*ibid.*, para. 42) and Sierra Leone (*ibid.*, para. 53).

⁶ The "lifespan" of unilateral acts, as highlighted, for example, by Mr. Momtaz during the debates at the previous session of the Commission in July 2004 (*Yearbook* ... 2004, vol. I, 2815th meeting, para. 44).

⁷ See, *inter alia*, the views of China (*Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty-ninth Session, Sixth Committee*, 23rd meeting (A/C.6/59/SR.23), para. 72), Canada (*ibid.*, para. 77), Portugal (*ibid.*, 24th meeting, para. 1), Italy (*ibid.*, para. 33), Japan (*ibid.*, 25th meeting, para. 3) and Malaysia (*ibid.*, paras. 37–38).

⁸ See, *inter alia*, the views of Portugal (*ibid.*, 24th meeting, para. 1), Spain (*ibid.*, para. 22), Italy (*ibid.*, para. 33) and Australia (*ibid.*, 25th meeting, para. 42).

- 4. Certain delegations stressed in the discussions that a study and supplementary analysis of State practice in that area should be carried out for the purpose of establishing a classification of unilateral acts and their legal effects and distinguishing clearly among the different categories of such acts.⁹
- Many delegations supported the Commission's decision to create an open-ended working group to study a number of cases. With regard to whether or not so-called political acts should be included, the lack of a clear boundary between legal and political acts was mentioned. Some political acts could actually produce legal effects. One classification proposed, for example, was the distinction between acts which contribute to the development of customary norms of international law, acts which create specific legal obligations, and acts which produce other effects under international law. The view was expressed that a classification of this type might help the Special Rapporteur to distinguish unilateral acts relevant to the Commission's study and thus determine the main items for reflection. It was also stressed that one of the greatest obstacles to the classification effort was the fact that an act could belong to several of the categories mentioned in the seventh report on unilateral acts of States at the same time and that, accordingly, the classification was not ideal.¹⁰
- 6. Another point raised during the discussion relates to the competence of persons authorized to formulate unilateral acts on behalf of the State, and the doubts that have arisen with regard to the nature and form of such acts; it is not clear, for example, whether the declarations of a State, its conduct or even national law constitute unilateral acts in the sense with which the Commission is concerned. In order to define clearly the legal nature of such acts, the Commission should take into account not only the objective elements of such unilateral acts, but also their subjective elements, such as the intention of the States in question, an aspect which is difficult to grasp. ¹¹ The criteria of validity of unilateral acts was also mentioned as an issue that should be taken into account in the analysis of these acts. ¹²
- 7. Other delegations believed that the preparation of draft articles on the topic was premature at the current stage of the work. There was a need for an in-depth and more detailed investigation. The necessary differentiation between unilateral acts of a legal character and unilateral acts which do not produce legal effects is undoubtedly one of the more complex aspects of the topic.
- 8. It is interesting to note that the positions outlined in the Sixth Committee to some extent reflect the positions already outlined in the Commission itself. One conclusion should be emphasized: regardless of the doubts, or

of scepticism with regard to the possibility of final codification of the topic, the common view underlying the debates at the most recent session was that a deeper and more detailed investigation was necessary, especially with regard to the practice of States. This approach could serve as a guideline for future work, which, in accordance with the outline contained in the seventh report on unilateral acts of States, would focus on the study of State practice.

- 9. On the basis of the suggestions made by the Commission and by States in the Sixth Committee, the present report presents the consideration of certain acts which have been considered relevant for a more detailed study of practice relating to these acts (chap. I) and the conclusions which, in the view of the Special Rapporteur, can be drawn from this practice. These conclusions can facilitate the establishment of common elements and, accordingly, future efforts to define a set of guidelines relating to the functioning of these legal acts (chap. II).
- 10. It should also be noted that the report considers only unilateral legal acts in the strict sense of the term, in accordance with the discussions in the Commission and some types of conduct which, without being acts of that nature, can produce similar effects. In that regard it should be recalled, merely as a basic reference, that ICJ has in various cases considered certain types of unilateral State conduct which produce or may produce legal effects.¹³
- 11. In accordance with the discussions held in 2004 in the Commission and the Working Group on unilateral acts of States established at that time, it was agreed to consider in detail the following acts: note dated 22 November 1952 from the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Colombia; statement by the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Cuba concerning the supply of vaccines to the Eastern Republic of Uruguay; waiver by Jordan of claims to the West Bank territories; Declaration by Egypt of 24 April 1957; statements by the Government of France concerning the suspension of nuclear tests in the South Pacific; protests by the Russian Federation against Azerbaijan and Turkmenistan; statements made by nuclear-weapon States; Ihlen declaration of 22 July 1919; Truman Proclamation of 28 September 1945. The statements or acts of the Swiss Government authorities addressed to an international organization were also considered, i.e. statements relating to the United Nations and its staff (tax exemptions and privileges). Lastly, the various types of conduct of two States in the context of a case before ICJ were considered, i.e. the positions of Cambodia and Thailand in the *Temple* of Preah Vihear case.

⁹ See, *inter alia*, the views of Germany (*ibid.*, 23rd meeting, para. 67), Canada (*ibid.*, para. 76), Guatemala (*ibid.*, 24th meeting, para. 29) and Malaysia (*ibid.*, 25th meeting, para. 35).

¹⁰ See, *inter alia*, the views of Germany (*ibid.*, 23rd meeting, para. 66), Canada (*ibid.*, para. 77), Guatemala (*ibid.*, 24th meeting, para. 29) and Malaysia (*ibid.*, 25th meeting, para. 36).

¹¹ See, *inter alia*, the views of Australia (*ibid.*, para. 42), Japan (*ibid.*, para. 3) and Malaysia (*ibid.*, para. 37).

¹² See, for example, Malaysia's view (*ibid.*, para. 34).

¹³ See Fisheries, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1951, pp. 138 et seq.; Arbitral Award Made by the King of Spain on 23 December 1906, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1960, pp. 192, 209 and 213; Right of Passage over Indian Territory, Merits, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1960, p. 39; Temple of Preah Vihear, Merits, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1962, p. 21; Continental Shelf (Tunisia/ Libyan Arab Jamahiriya), Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1982, pp. 65–67; Delimitation of the Maritime Boundary in the Gulf of Maine Area, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1984, pp. 303 et seq.; Frontier Dispute, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1986, pp. 554 et seq.; and Land, Island and Maritime Frontier Dispute (El Salvador/Honduras: Nicaragua intervening), Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1992, pp. 408, 422 et seq. and 559 et seq.

12. As indicated earlier, these statements were considered on the basis of the general guidelines agreed in 2004 in the Working Group on unilateral acts of States, which, as will be recalled, proposed that the consideration of such acts or statements should include the following: date; competence of the author or organ; form; content; context and circumstances; objectives sought; addressees;

reactions of the addressees; reactions of third parties; basis; application; modification; termination/revocation; legal scope; decision of a judge or an arbiter; comments and bibliography.¹⁴

CHAPTER I

Consideration of certain acts

A. Note dated 22 November 1952 from the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Colombia

- 13. The Special Rapporteur will first consider note No. GM-542 of 22 November 1952 from the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Colombia, signed by the then Minister for Foreign Affairs of Colombia, Mr. Juan Uribe Holguín, and sent to and received by the then Ambassador of Venezuela to Colombia, Mr. Luis Gerónimo Pietri, concerning Venezuela's sovereignty over the Los Monjes archipelago.
- 14. The Minister for Foreign Affairs—an official who, under international law (primarily the Vienna regime on the law of treaties), can act and commit the State which he represents in its international legal relations without needing full powers, ¹⁵ formulated the act. This, however, raises a question that will be referred to below, namely, the question of competence to formulate an act related to a matter which, under the Constitution of the country in question, lies within the exclusive competence of the President of the Republic and is subject to the approval of Congress. This is a question linked to the validity of the act from the point of view of the Constitution of Colombia.
- 15. The unilateral act that is being considered was formulated through an official note from the Government of Colombia, signed, as stated above, by the Minister for Foreign Affairs and addressed to the Government of Venezuela through Venezuela's Ambassador in Bogotá.

16. The note reads as follows:

Ambassador,

In recent months, the Government of the United States of Venezuela and the Government of Colombia have expressed, in a cordial, friendly manner, through their respective Ambassadors in Bogotá and Caracas, their points of view concerning the legal status of the group of islets known as Los Monjes.

My Government considers that the time has come to put an end to these discussions, which have established the following:

1. In 1856, the Government of the United States of Venezuela notified the Government of New Granada, through the diplomatic channel, of its claim to the aforementioned archipelago. This claim originated with the contract concluded between the Government of New Granada and Mr. John E. Gowen on 20 February 1856, "concerning the

- ¹⁵ Article 7, paragraph 2, of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties between States and International Organizations or between International Organizations (hereinafter the 1986 Vienna Convention) states that:
 - "In virtue of their functions and without having to produce full powers, the following are considered as representing their State:
 - (a) Heads of State, Heads of Government and Ministers for Foreign Affairs, for the purpose of performing all acts relating to the conclusion of a treaty."

exploration, colonization and exploitation of certain islands owned by the Republic of New Granada"; article 6 of this contract included the San Andrés, Providencia and Los Monjes groups among the islands, cays and islets referred to therein.

- This contract of 20 February 1856 was submitted by the executive branch of New Granada for approval by the legislature; the Senate ordered that it be published in the Official Gazette, and this was done in No. 1917 of 28 February 1856. On the day after the contract was published, Venezuelan diplomatic officials in Bogotá wrote to the Secretary for Foreign Affairs of New Granada, requesting that the Los Monjes group of islets be excluded because they belonged to Venezuela rather than to my country. On 3 March 1856, the Secretary for Foreign Affairs of New Granada replied to those plenipotentiaries, stating that the contract published four days earlier contained typographical errors, including a reference in article 6 to Los Monjes rather than Los Mangles. The errors were noted in Official Gazette No. 1920, published on that same date (3 March 1856). While the Minister for Foreign Affairs of New Granada, Lino de Pombo, stated in his reply that he would not enter "into the question of control and jurisdiction over the group of islands known as Los Monjes, which by virtue of their location appear to be a natural annex of the Guajira Peninsula", he did not challenge Venezuela's acts asserting control and jurisdiction. In accordance with notes contained in the archives of the Colombian Congress, the Senate of New Granada then ordered the contract concluded with Mr. Gowen to be archived.
- 3. On 22 August 1871, the Provisional President of the United States of Venezuela issued a decree establishing jurisdiction over a territory known as "Colón", which was subject to a special regime under the authority of the federal executive branch; this territory included a number of islands, including the Los Monjes archipelago. Once again, Colombia did not object to this decree or to any of the jurisdictional claims repeatedly made by the Government of the United States of Venezuela to the aforementioned archipelago, which have been recorded in official Venezuelan publications.
- 4. As representatives of the two Ministries of Foreign Affairs have recently stated, none of the treaties, agreements and declarations signed by Colombia and the United States of Venezuela mention this archipelago since, throughout the lengthy process by which the Governments sought to resolve their territorial disputes—now fortunately concluded—Colombia, despite the events mentioned above, refrained from presenting any claims or arguments to disprove the position of the United States of Venezuela concerning its jurisdiction and control over the Los Monjes archipelago.

On the basis of this past history, the Government of Colombia hereby declares that it does not oppose the sovereignty of the United States of Venezuela over the Los Monjes archipelago, and that, therefore, it does not oppose nor does it wish to make any claim concerning the exercise of such sovereignty or any act by Venezuela asserting control over the archipelago in question.

Colombia's consistent policy has been to recognize the plenitude of foreign law and always to act in accordance with the provisions of published treaties. Therefore, in making this solemn declaration, my Government is pursuing a course of conduct which is a source of legitimate pride to the Republic.

I take this opportunity to convey to Your Excellency the renewed assurances of my highest consideration.¹⁶

¹⁴ See *Yearbook* ... 2004, vol. II (Part Two), para. 247 and footnote 516, where reference is made to the conclusions of the Working Group.

¹⁶ Text reproduced in Vázquez Carrizosa, *Las relaciones de Colombia y Venezuela: la historia atormentada de dos naciones*, pp. 337–339.

17. The Government of Venezuela replied to this note on the same date through its Ambassador in Bogotá. The text of this note reads as follows:

Minister.

I have the honour to inform you of the receipt of your letter No. GM-542 of today's date, setting forth the conclusions that the Government of Colombia has reached with regard to the Los Monjes archipelago, as a result of the cordial talks which the Governments of our two countries have held on that subject in recent months through our embassies in Bogotá and Caracas.

My Government fully agrees with the terms of your note and greatly appreciates the decision taken by the Government of Colombia to declare, as it has done, that it does not oppose our sovereignty over the archipelago in question, which has long been under my country's jurisdiction and to which my country has a number of well-founded titles establishing it as an integral part of Venezuelan territory. My Government also appreciates the spirit of brotherly friendship which always governed our talks on this subject.

The Government of Colombia highly commends the attitude which you have taken in this matter. In so doing you have confirmed your adherence to the highest principles of American law and demonstrated in an exemplary fashion that your conduct, as an enlightened member of the community of our Republics, follows the best traditions of a continent which has established law and justice as the essential basis of international relations.

I am certain that acts such as that of your Government will make a highly effective contribution to the growing friendship between our two countries and that the greatest benefits of cooperation and mutual understanding will flow therefrom.¹⁷

- 18. The note was drafted in the framework of bilateral negotiations concerning sovereignty over the Los Monjes archipelago, as is clear from the text, which states that it is the result of "the cordial talks which the Governments of our two countries have held on that subject in recent months through our embassies in Bogotá and Caracas".¹⁸
- 19. The objective of the note is to recognize Venezuela's sovereignty over the Los Monjes archipelago.
- 20. The performance of the act in this case merits additional commentary in the light of the situation created by a petition to the Council of State of Colombia for nullification of the note.
- 21. The Government of Colombia performed the act and gave notification of it to Venezuela, which acknowledged receipt of the note; in other words, it accepted the notification. Colombia in no way questioned the validity of its note. However, at the national level, in the framework of the Council of State, it was proposed to nullify it through a process which will be described briefly in order to show the domestic reaction, both official and unofficial, regarding the validity of the note. The views of the Government and of specialists on the validity of the act, its nature and its legal effects, may be inferred from the debate on the matter and will doubtless enrich consideration of the topic.
- 22. Venezuela's acceptance of the note of 22 November 1952 and its reply to the Government of Colombia can be taken to be its reaction. There is no record of the reaction of any other State to this note.

- 23. The Government of Colombia did not make any subsequent declaration questioning the act; however, two petitions for nullification were presented to the Council of State in 1971 and 1992, with differing results.
- 24. In 1971 the Council of State was asked to nullify the note on the grounds that it was unconstitutional. Among the petitioner's arguments was that a border issue must be settled through an international treaty approved by Congress. In response to this petition, the Council of State declared on 30 March 1971 that it lacked the competence to decide on nullification of the 1952 note. It then stated that:

Judicial administrative review of acts connected with intergovernmental relations is inadmissible ... an administrative judge is not competent to deal with international relations, which are governed by international law. The limits of administrative competence exactly parallel the limits of Colombian domestic law; international legal disputes can be argued only before international courts.¹⁹

- 25. On 2 April 1971 the petitioner appealed the decision by the Council of State denying the admissibility of the petition, on the grounds that the note "did not meet the criteria for international acts established in the Colombian Constitution". 20 The petitioner also stated that the necessary intent of the States to create an international act was not present in that case. These two statements by the petitioner reflect two important issues. First, the Constitution of Colombia, like the vast majority of constitutions, does not explicitly recognize unilateral acts as international acts; most constitutions simply refer to treaties as acts through which a State commits itself at the international level, particularly, in this case, with respect to boundaries. The second contention is that unilateral acts do not produce legal effects unless they express the intent of the two States; in other words, that international obligations can be entered into only through a conventional act.
- 26. The Council of State revoked the inadmissibility decision and later admitted the petition of 30 March 1971. It decided not to "rule on the merits of the claim".21 The Council then declared that the issue could be considered only by an international court; this reflects the Council's view that what was at issue was an international act of the State and not simply an administrative act. It did not prejudge the nature of the act, i.e. whether it was a conventional or a unilateral act, stating in this connection that "the question would have to be decided by an international court in the event of a dispute which cannot be resolved through direct settlement procedures" and that "it would be for an international court to rule on the validity or invalidity of the act, whether unilateral or bilateral, where it is claimed that a defect might have affected consent or expressed intent".22
- 27. The Council of State's decision is accompanied by an extremely interesting dissenting opinion by one of its members, expressing the view that the Council should have nullified the act for four reasons: (a) inconsistencies in the decision; (b) the unilateral nature of the communication of 22 November 1952; (c) the communication of

¹⁷ *Ibid.*, pp. 340–341.

¹⁸ Ibid., p. 340.

¹⁹ Citation from the arguments of one of the Councillors of State (Gaviria Liévano, *Los Monjes en el diferendo con Venezuela*) p. 165.

²⁰ *Ibid.*, p. 167.

²¹ *Ibid.*, p. 168.

²² *Ibid*.

- 27 November 1957 and the political acts; and (*d*) the issue of merits.
- 28. It should be noted that the principal basis of the petitioner's argument is that the note violated articles 3, 4, 76, para. 18, and 120, paras. 9 and 20, of the Constitution of Colombia, which establish the criteria for performing an act of this kind. Under the provisions of the Constitution, legislative approval is essential for the conclusion of boundary treaties.
- 29. The Constitutional Council disqualified itself in a decision taken on 25 January 1975, which was again appealed, on 4 and 20 February 1978. The Council rejected the appeal on 4 April 1979 in a decision which again recognized that it was faced with an international act and not simply an administrative one.
- 30. The situation had not yet been definitively resolved. In 1985 a new petition for nullification of the act on grounds of unconstitutionality was attempted. The petitioners stated that

the boundaries of the Republic of Colombia can be changed only through treaties or conventions; furthermore, such international instruments must be approved by the Colombian Congress, and the note of 22 November 1952 is neither an international treaty nor a convention and was never approved by Congress.²³

- 31. At that point—and it is very important to take note of this—the Ministry of Foreign Affairs inserted itself into the proceedings and raised several objections, including one relating to lack of competence. The Ministry based this objection on the fact that "the act whose nullification is requested is a legal act of an international character which transcends domestic law and is governed by the rules of international conventional or customary law".²⁴
- 32. In a written statement presented during the proceedings, the prosecutor of the Council of State recognized that

from the point of view of the content and the nature or essence of the administrative act, there can be no doubt that ... this is a unilateral act of the Colombian Government aimed at bringing an end to the talks between Venezuela and Colombia concerning the Los Monjes archipelago.²⁵

- 33. On 22 October 1992 the Council of State "declared diplomatic note No. GM–542 of 22 November 1952 to be nullified". ²⁶
- 34. The most important question that arises concerns the legal effect at the international level of a decision by the Council of State concerning an international legal act of the State, such as that contained in the 1952 note from the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Colombia. The contradiction between the position of the Government of Colombia and that of the Council of State leads to consideration of the nature of such acts and whether they must be consistent with constitutional norms, especially when, as in this case, issues relating to State boundaries are involved.

35. The Government of Colombia has taken a position which appears to imply acceptance of this note, although caution has prevailed in the official statements made by the authorities and negotiators of the two countries. It should also be noted that the talks held by the parties on the topic of delimitation of marine and undersea areas in the Gulf of Venezuela—which therefore covers the very important matter of sovereignty over the Los Monjes archipelago—are, as agreed by the parties themselves, confidential. But the Government's attitude in the proceedings could reflect its acceptance of the note as valid at the international level, an important type of unilateral conduct that will not be considered in the present report.

B. Statement by the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Cuba concerning the supply of vaccines to the Eastern Republic of Uruguay²⁷

- 36. Secondly, the Special Rapporteur will examine the declaration made by the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Cuba on 4 April 2002 concerning the supply of vaccines to the Eastern Republic of Uruguay.
- 37. It should be noted by way of context that political relations between the two countries were seriously strained at that time. In December 2001 the Government of Uruguay expressed its desire to purchase from Cuba a batch of anti-meningitis vaccines; the Government of Cuba decided to supply the vaccines in response to that request.
- 38. What was involved was a declaration whereby Cuba expressed its willingness to supply the requested vaccines and to send them immediately. Cuba also declared that it did not wish the shipment to be a commercial transaction and that it waived the economic profit it would otherwise have obtained in return for a reduction of its debt to Uruguay in an amount equivalent to the value of the donation.
- 39. In this case there was a reaction on the part of the Government of Uruguay, which rejected the donation, and the Central Bank of Uruguay deducted the price of the vaccines from Cuba's debt to Uruguay.
- 40. For Cuba what was at issue was a donation, ²⁹ whereas for Uruguay it was a commercial transaction, and it therefore rejected the Cuban act in the sense in which it was intended, a move Cuba opposed. The Central Bank of Uruguay deducted the amount of the "sale" from Cuba's debt to Uruguay, while the Central Bank of Cuba did not recognize the transaction, deeming it to be a donation, so that in its view, and in its books, the debt to Uruguay remained the same.

²³ *Ibid.*, p. 173.

²⁴ *Ibid.*, p. 175.

²⁵ *Ibid*.

²⁶ *Ibid.*, p. 180.

 $^{^{\}rm 27}\,{\rm This}$ section is based on the contribution provided by Mr. Opertti Badan.

²⁸ For reference, see the document posted on the website of the Ministry for Foreign Affairs of Cuba, dated 2 May 2002, which sets forth Cuba's position on the decision taken by Uruguay (http://europa.cubaminrex.cu/Declaraciones/articulos/informaciones/2002/2002-05-02.htm).

²⁹ The declaration in question states: "The Government of Cuba will keep its word, and early in June will deliver to Uruguay the remaining 800,000 of the total 1,200,000 doses of meningitis vaccine which it is committed to donating" (*ibid.*).

- 41. This act was neither modified nor revoked.
- 42. At issue for Cuba was a unilateral legal act which produced legal effects from the moment it was formulated, regardless of Uruguay's reaction. That is, it was a unilateral act constituting a donation. For Uruguay, on the other hand, the act did not have the effect of a donation, but rather involved a commercial transaction, in view of its nature, its context and its intended purpose.³⁰
- 43. The question has not been resolved. Regardless of the subject matter, the essential point is to determine whether Cuba's act of donating did or did not constitute a unilateral act containing a promise, specifically a promise not to demand any payment from Uruguay. Of course, the situation is unclear in view of Uruguay's reaction in not accepting the donation and instead treating it as a commercial transaction. The case is of interest because of the addressee's refusal, a reaction that could affect the implementation of the Cuban declaration and even modify its legal effects, without changing its character as a unilateral act.

C. Waiver by Jordan of claims to the West Bank territories³¹

- 44. In this section, the Special Rapporteur will examine the statement made by the King of Jordan on 31 July 1988 waiving Jordan's claims to the West Bank territories.³² The King, in an address to the citizens of his country, declared that Jordan was dismantling its "legal and administrative"³³ links with the West Bank, a territory that formed part of Palestine under the mandate given to the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and that was occupied by Jordan in 1950 following the first war between the Arab countries and Israel.
- 45. The statement took the form of a speech by the King of Jordan to his fellow citizens, but it was also addressed indirectly to the international community. Its chief addressees were Israel and the PLO.
- 46. The statement by the King of Jordan signified a waiver of claims to the West Bank territory and entailed the dismantling of legal and administrative links with it.
- 47. The unilateral act or declaration occurred in the context of a process that began with the birth of the PLO and its recognition as the sole legitimate representative of the Palestinian people by the Seventh Arab League Summit Conference held in Rabat in 1974. The address by the King of Jordan refers to his country's positive response regarding the Palestinian people's wish for unity with Jordan in 1950, as well as the wish of the PLO, as the sole legitimate representative of the Palestinian people, to establish a Palestinian State. On 15 November 1988, the Palestine National Council, at the conclusion of its meeting in Algiers, adopted a declaration proclaiming the establishment of the State of Palestine.³⁴

- 48. The PLO expressed surprise at Jordan's decision, although it ultimately accepted the share of responsibility that Jordan had assumed with respect to the administration of the West Bank. In the Declaration of Independence of 15 November 1988, the PLO made no reference to the address by the King of Jordan concerning the West Bank, mentioning only the end to the occupation of the Palestinian territories. Israel, for its part, ultimately recognized that a solution must be found with the PLO, as is evidenced by the series of agreements concluded since 1991.
- 49. It should also be noted that Jordan never afterwards claimed the right to speak on behalf of the ceded territory.
- 50. The reaction of other States is also interesting. The United States of America, through its Secretary of State, George P. Shultz, declared on 14 December 1988 that the status of the West Bank and the Gaza Strip could not be settled or established by unilateral acts, but only through negotiation. The United States did not recognize the declaration of an independent Palestinian State.³⁵
- 51. There were other significant reactions. France did not recognize the State of Palestine, because, according to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, it did not have a defined territory. On the other hand, the 95 States that did recognize Palestine in 1988 recognized that the West Bank was under the responsibility of the PLO. In 1988 the General Assembly (by 104 votes in favour, 2 against and 36 abstaining) acknowledged the proclamation of the State of Palestine.³⁶
- 52. The key point is that this statement was contained in an address by the King of Jordan, so that it constituted a unilateral waiver of a claim to part of Jordan's territory.³⁷
- 53. The question arises whether the King of Jordan was competent to act at the international level and to formulate the waiver on behalf of Jordan. It is significant that the Constitution of Jordan prohibits any act related to the transfer of territory, so that it would appear that the King exceeded his authority. However, that did not prevent the waiver from producing legal effects, and in fact a transfer of the territory of the West Bank to the State of Palestine actually took place.
- 54. What one has here, as will be seen later, is the subsequent confirmation of an act formulated by a person not competent to do so under the domestic laws of the State in question. The unilateral act was confirmed by subsequent domestic acts.

D. Declaration by Egypt of 24 April 1957³⁸

55. In this section, the Special Rapporteur will consider the Declaration by Egypt of 24 April 1957, which has been extensively discussed in the literature on international

³⁰ Opinion of Mr. Opertti Badan, as stated in his written contribution on the topic, sent to the Special Rapporteur.

³¹ Information provided by Mr. Daoudi.

 $^{^{\}rm 32}$ Reproduced in ILM, vol. XXVII, No. 6 (November 1988), p. 1637.

³³ *Ibid.*, p. 1641.

 $^{^{34}\,}A/43/827-S/20278$ and Corr.1, annex III. See also Flory, "Naissance d'un État palestinien".

 $^{^{\}rm 35}\,\text{See}$ Nash Leich, "Contemporary practice of the United States relating to international law", p. 348.

³⁶ General Assembly resolution 43/177 of 15 December 1988.

³⁷ See, in this regard, Rousseau, "Chronique des faits internationaux", p. 142.

³⁸ Information provided by Mr. Chee.

- law.³⁹ This is a declaration made by the Government of Egypt "in accord with the Constantinople Convention of 1888".⁴⁰
- 56. The Government of Egypt promised to respect the terms and spirit of the 1888 Convention respecting the Free Navigation of the Suez Maritime Canal and the rights and obligations arising therefrom. It also promised to maintain free and uninterrupted navigation for all nations within the limits of and in accordance with the provisions of the Convention.
- 57. The Declaration of 24 April 1957 sets forth a number of actions that the Government of Egypt promised to perform in relation to the operations and management of the Suez Canal Authority established by the Government on 26 July 1956, including some matters relating to financing.

58. The Declaration specifies:

The Government of Egypt makes this Declaration, which re-affirms ... the Constantinople Convention of 1988, as an expression of their desire and determination to enable the Suez Canal to be an efficient and adequate waterway linking the nations of the world and serving the cause of peace and prosperity.

This Declaration, with the obligations therein, constitutes an international instrument and will be deposited and registered with the Secretariat of the United Nations.⁴¹

- 59. The Declaration was formulated following the nationalization of the Universal Suez Maritime Canal Company promulgated by President Nasser on 26 July 1956. The Governments of France, the United Kingdom and the United States protested against the nationalization as being contrary to international law.
- 60. In August 1956 a conference was held in London, attended by representatives of 22 States. A proposal, supported by 18 States, to create an international board for the Suez Canal, was rejected by President Nasser in September. In the same month a second conference was held at which a declaration was adopted, calling for the creation of a Suez Canal Users Association, which was formally established on 1 October. On 13 October, the Security Council adopted resolution 118 (1956) reaffirming the principle of free and open transit through the Canal. At the end of October and beginning of November a crisis point was reached, and British, French and Israeli forces invaded the Canal Zone. Hostilities continued until the General Assembly adopted resolution 997 (ES-I) on 2 November 1956, calling for a ceasefire and reiterating the importance of the principle of freedom of navigation through the Canal.

- 61. The Declaration by Egypt reaffirmed its adherence to the terms and spirit of the 1888 Convention respecting the Free Navigation of the Suez Maritime Canal. Accordingly, the Government of Egypt would ensure freedom of navigation through the Canal, while stressing that the Government had sovereign control over the Canal.
- 62. The Declaration was addressed not only to the States members of the Suez Canal Users Association, but to the entire international community. It constituted a declaration *erga omnes*.
- 63. The States members of the Suez Canal Users Association continued to use the Canal in accordance with the 1888 Convention respecting the Free Navigation of the Suez Maritime Canal, sidestepping the question of the validity of the Declaration by Egypt. The representative of France to the Security Council emphasized that position, stating that:
- [A] unilateral declaration, even if registered, ... cannot be anything more than a unilateral act, and we must draw the conclusion from these findings that just as the Declaration was issued unilaterally, it can be amended or annulled in the same manner. 42
- 64. The reaction of third parties is reflected in Security Council resolution 118 (1956) and General Assembly resolution 997 (ES–I).
- 65. The 1957 Declaration by Egypt may be considered a unilateral act, at least formally, or may be viewed in the context of the implementation of the 1888 Convention respecting the Free Navigation of the Suez Maritime Canal.
- 66. The Declaration was published in the United Nations *Treaty Series*⁴³ and was executed. However, it should be noted that Israeli ships were prevented from using the Suez Canal until 1979, when the Treaty of Peace between Egypt and Israel⁴⁴ was signed.
- 67. The Declaration has not been modified.
- 68. The legal literature, as has been said, has considered the Declaration in great detail. For Degan:

This situation proves how a State can find it perfectly fit for its interests to assume sometimes far-reaching obligations unilaterally, rather than to negotiate on them with other interested States. It therefore proves that there should not be doubt, as a matter of principle, concerning the legal effect of unilateral undertakings simply because they are not stipulated in a formal treaty.⁴⁵

69. For Rubin:

In so far as it could be interpreted to be an offer to enter into a treaty, this declaration was specifically rejected by the Suez Canal Users Association, the body which appears to come as close as any to an offeree in the traditional contract sense. It is possible to construe the Egyptian declaration as a true unilateral declaration ... confronting the international community with the need to determine its legal efficacy in practice.⁴⁶

³⁹ See, for example, Dehaussy, "La declaration égyptienne de 1957 sur le canal de Suez"; Degan, *Sources of International Law*, pp. 300–301; Brownlie, *Principles of Public International Law*, p. 265; Huang, "Some international and legal aspects of the Suez Canal question"; Jennings and Watts, *Oppenheim's International Law*, pp. 592–595 and 1190; Lauterpacht, *The Suez Canal Settlement*; McNair, *The Law of Treaties*, p. 11; O'Connell, *International Law*, p. 201; Rousseau, *Droit International Public*, p. 426; Rubin, "The international legal effects of unilateral declarations"; Shaw, *International Law*, p. 461; Suy, *Les actes juridiques unilatéraux en droit international public*, pp. 140–141; Visscher, "Les aspects juridiques fondamentaux de la question de Suez"; Whiteman, *Digest of International Law*, pp. 1076–1130.

⁴⁰ Declaration made by the Government of Egypt on the Suez Canal and the arrangements for its operation (Cairo, 24 April 1957), United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 265, No. 3821, p. 300.

⁴¹ United Nations, *Treaty Series* (see footnote 40 above), p. 306.

⁴² Official Records of the Security Council, Twelfth Year, 776th meeting, para. 59. See also Kiss, Répertoire de la pratique française en matière de droit international public, p. 618.

⁴³ See footnote 40 above.

⁴⁴ Treaty of Peace between the Arab Republic of Egypt and the State of Israel (Washington, D.C., 26 March 1979), United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1136, No. 17813, p. 100, and vol. 1138, No. 17855, p. 59.

⁴⁵ Op. cit., p. 301.

⁴⁶ Loc. cit., p. 6.

In the same article, the author concludes that the 1957 Declaration

reveals no consensus supporting a rule asserting an international obligation to be created by a unilateral declaration uttered publicly and with an intent to be bound, in the absence of additional factors such as a negotiating context, an affirmative reaction from other states, a tribunal to receive the declaration officially, or a supporting preexisting obligation.⁴⁷

E. Statements made by the Government of France concerning the suspension of nuclear tests in the South Pacific⁴⁸

- 70. In this section, the Special Rapporteur will consider the statements made by various representatives of the Government of France in relation to the *Nuclear Tests* cases considered by ICJ,⁴⁹ as referred to in earlier reports.⁵⁰
- 71. These statements include those made by the President of France on 8 June and 25 July 1974; a note dated 10 June 1974 from the French Embassy in Wellington addressed to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of New Zealand; a letter dated 1 July 1974 from the President of France to the Prime Minister of New Zealand; two statements by the French Ministry of Defence, dated 16 August and 11 October 1974; and a statement made to the General Assembly by the Minister for Foreign Affairs of France on 25 September 1974.
- 72. These statements were made in various forms: a communiqué from the Office of the President of France, a diplomatic note, a letter from the President of France, a statement made during a press conference, statements to the French press, and a statement made to an international body, the General Assembly.
- 73. The content of these statements, made in different forms, reflects a single idea: they all refer to the suspension by France of its nuclear tests in the South Pacific. The statement by the President of France reflects his

Government's position in relation to the aforementioned dispute. In his statement of 25 July 1974, the President said that:

[O]n this question of nuclear tests, you know that the Prime Minister had publicly expressed himself in the National Assembly in his speech introducing the Government's programme. He had indicated that French nuclear testing would continue. I had myself made it clear that this round of atmospheric tests would be the last, and so the members of the Government were completely informed of our intentions in this respect.⁵¹

- 74. The statement by the Minister for Foreign Affairs of France to the General Assembly is also important in this context. On that occasion, the Minister stated that France had "now reached a stage in our nuclear technology that makes it possible for us to continue our programme by underground testing, and we have taken steps to do so as early as next year".⁵²
- 75. According to ICJ itself: "France made public its intention to cease the conduct of atmospheric nuclear tests following the conclusion of the 1974 series of tests." Furthermore, the French Government "was bound to assume that other States might take note of these statements and rely on their being effective". 54
- 76. The French statements were addressed to the Governments of Australia and New Zealand. However, ICJ pointed out that the statements had been "made outside the Court, publicly and *erga omnes*, even though the first of them [from the office of the President of France, dated 8 June 1974] was communicated to the Government of Australia".⁵⁵
- 77. Reactions to the statements were heard. The Government of Australia, as the direct addressee, stated that:

The Australian Government had noted the French Government's statements expressing an intention to cease atmospheric testing after the present series was completed. As Senator Willesee had pointed out, these statements were a step in the right direction, but the French Government had not given the Australian Government any satisfactory commitment that further atmospheric tests would not be held.⁵⁶

78. During the pleadings before ICJ, Australia's counsel stated as follows:

The statement by the French President requires close scrutiny. I must emphasize the basic distinction between an assertion that tests will go underground and an assurance that no further atmospheric tests will take place. Even though France said it "will be in a position to move to the stage of underground firings", this in no way precludes it from a continuation or resumption of atmospheric tests possibly even in conjunction with underground tests ... Moreover, nothing has been said to the Australian Government in its discussions with the French Government suggesting that the latter dissents from this understanding of the position. The French Government has never given the assurances which the Australian Government has sought regarding atmospheric testing.

⁴⁷ *Ibid.*, p. 7.

⁴⁸ Information provided by Mr. Pellet. The Special Rapporteur wishes to thank him for that information and for his tireless work as Chairman of the Working Group on unilateral acts of States during the previous sessions.

⁴⁹ Nuclear Tests (Australia v. France), Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1974, p. 253; and ibid. (New Zealand v. France), Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1974, p. 457.

⁵⁰ The bibliography relating to the issue of nuclear tests is extensive. To cite a few non-exhaustive examples: Bollecker-Stern, "L'affaire des essais nucléaires français devant la Cour internationale de justice"; Cot, "Affaires des essais nucléaires (Australie c. France et Nouvelle Zélande c. France)—demandes en indication des mesures conservatoires: ordonnances du 22 juin 1973"; Dupuy, "L'affaire des essais nucléaires français et le contentieux de la responsabilité internationale publique"; Franck, "World made law: the decision of the ICJ in the Nuclear Test cases"; Juste Ruiz, "Tribunal Internacional de Justicia-asuntos de las pruebas nucleares (Australia c. Francia; Nueva Zelanda c. Francia): sentencias de 20 de diciembre de 1974"; and "Mootness in international adjudication: the Nuclear Tests cases"; Lacharrière, "Cour internationale de justice: commentaires sur la position juridique de la France à l'égard de la licéité de ses expériences nucléaires"; Macdonald and Hough, "The Nuclear Tests case revisited"; Sur, "Les affaires des essais nucléaires (Australie c. France, Nouvelle-Zélande c. France—C.I.J.: arrêts du 20 décembre 1974"; Thierry, "Les arrêts du 20 décembre 1974 et les relations de la France avec la Cour internationale de justice".

⁵¹ I.C.J. Reports 1974, p. 266, para. 37; and p. 471, para. 40.

⁵² Ibid., paras. 39 and 42.

⁵³ *Ibid.*, p. 267, para. 41; p. 269, para. 51; and p. 474, para. 53.

⁵⁴ *Ibid.*, p. 269, para. 51; and p. 474, para. 53.

⁵⁵ *Ibid.*, paras. 50 and 52.

 $^{^{56}}$ I.C.J. Pleadings, Nuclear Tests, Vol. I (Australia v. France), p. 551.

The concern of the Australian Government is to exclude completely atmospheric testing. It has repeatedly sought assurances that atmospheric tests will end. It has not received these assurances. The recent French Presidential statement cannot be read as a firm, explicit and binding undertaking to refrain from further atmospheric tests.

It follows that the Government of France is still reserving to itself the right to carry out atmospheric nuclear tests. The risk that this policy will lead to further atmospheric tests in 1975, and in subsequent years, continues to be a real one. In legal terms, Australia has nothing from the French Government which protects it against any further atmospheric tests, should the French Government decide to hold them. These judicial proceedings are as relevant and as important as when the Australian Application was filed.⁵⁷

- 79. There were no third-party reactions to the statements by France.
- 80. In terms of execution, there were complaints by New Zealand⁵⁸ following the new underground tests carried out by France in 1995. There were also complaints from Australia, the Marshall Islands, Micronesia (Federated States of), Samoa and Solomon Islands.
- 81. In that regard ICJ, in 1995, noted as follows:

Whereas the basis of the Judgment delivered by the Court in the *Nuclear Tests (New Zealand v. France)* case was consequently France's undertaking not to conduct any further atmospheric nuclear tests; whereas it was only, therefore, in the event of a resumption of nuclear tests in the atmosphere that that basis of the Judgment would have been affected; and whereas that hypothesis has not materialized.⁵⁹

- 82. The unilateral act of France was not the subject of any modification. Concerning the possibility of a reconsideration of the act, ICJ stated that "the unilateral undertaking resulting from these statements cannot be interpreted as having been made in implicit reliance on an arbitrary power of reconsideration". ⁶⁰ Concerning its termination, New Zealand, in its complaint filed in 1995, stated: "It is, in passing, pertinent to observe that no time limit was associated with the [1974] French undertakings." ⁶¹
- 83. The legal effect of these statements was clearly expressed by ICJ in its decisions of 1974:

His statements, and those of members of the French Government acting under his authority, up to the last statement made by the Minister of Defence ... must be held to constitute an engagement of the State,

having regard to their intention and to the circumstances in which they were made. 62

In that regard, the Court added:

[It] finds that France has undertaken the obligation to hold no further nuclear tests in the atmosphere in the South Pacific.⁶³

F. Protests by the Russian Federation against Azerbaijan and Turkmenistan⁶⁴

- 84. In this section, the Special Rapporteur will consider a number of acts by the Russian Federation containing a protest, against Azerbaijan and Turkmenistan, in relation to the status of the waters of the Caspian Sea.
- 85. The first case refers to a protest formulated by means of a diplomatic note, dated 6 January 1994, addressed to the Government of Turkmenistan on the occasion of the adoption of the State boundary law which establishes internal and territorial waters of that State in the Caspian Sea.
- 86. It should be recalled that, until the dissolution of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, the legal status of the Caspian Sea was governed by the Treaty of Friendship between Persia and the Russian Socialist Federal Soviet Republic⁶⁵ and the Treaty of Commerce and Navigation between Iran and the Soviet Union.⁶⁶ These treaties established freedom of navigation and fisheries, excluding the 10-mile coastal zone, where fisheries were reserved for the ships of the coastal State.
- 87. In 1993, Turkmenistan adopted State boundary law, establishing internal and territorial waters of that State in the Caspian Sea.
- 88. The Russian Federation is of the opinion that the legal regime of the Caspian Sea is still determined by the above-mentioned treaties until a new legal regime is agreed by the coastal States. The Caspian Sea being a body of water having no natural link with the global ocean—in other words, a lake—it is therefore not subject to the provisions of the international law of the sea, including those of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, unless agreed upon *mutatis mutandis* by all coastal States. Negotiations among coastal States with a view to developing a new treaty on the legal status of the Caspian Sea began in 1994 and are still in progress. The Russian Federation does not recognize any unilateral territorial or jurisdictional claim of other coastal States over a part of the Caspian Sea until these negotiations have

⁵⁷ *Ibid.*, sixth public hearing (4 July 1974), argument of Senator Murphy, pp. 389–390.

⁵⁸ See, in this regard, Daniele, "L'ordonnance sur la demande d'examen de la situation dans l'affaire des essais nucléaires et le pouvoir de la Cour internationale de justice de régler sa propre procédure"; and Coussirat-Coustère, "La reprise des essais nucléaires français devant la Cour internationale de justice: observations sur l'ordonnance du 22 septembre 1995". See also a reference to this issue in "Chronique des faits internationaux", p. 978.

⁵⁹ Request for an Examination of the Situation in Accordance with Paragraph 63 of the Court's Judgment of 20 December 1974 in the Nuclear Tests (New Zealand v. France) Case, Order of 22 September 1995, I.C.J. Reports 1995, pp. 305–306, para. 62.

⁶⁰ I.C.J. Reports 1974 (see footnote 49 above), p. 270, para. 51; and p. 475, para. 53.

⁶¹ I.C.J. Pleadings, Request for an Examination of the Situation in Accordance with Paragraph 63 of the Court's Judgment of 20 December 1974 in the Nuclear Tests (New Zealand v. France) Case (not yet published), application instituting proceedings of 21 August 1995, p. 32, para. 63.

⁶² I.C.J. Reports 1974 (see footnote 49 above), p. 269, para. 49; and p. 474, para. 51.

⁶³ *Ibid.*, p. 270, para. 52; and p. 475, para. 55; see also pages 271, para. 56, and 476, para. 59. See further *I.C.J. Reports 1995* (footnote 59 above), p. 305, para. 61. It should be noted that the complaint by New Zealand refers not to the failure to comply with the statements, but to the decision of 1974.

⁶⁴ Document provided by Mr. Kolodkin (April 2005).

⁶⁵ Treaty of Friendship between with Persia and the Russian Socialist Federal Soviet Republic (Moscow, 26 February 1921), League of Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. IX, No. 268, p. 383.

⁶⁶ Treaty of Commerce and Navigation between Iran and the Soviet Union (Tehran, 25 March 1940), *British and Foreign State Papers* 1940–1942, vol. 144, p. 419.

been completed and the new legal status of the Caspian Sea is agreed.⁶⁷

- 89. The objective of the note is, first, to inform Turkmenistan that the Russian Federation does not consider its claim and the actions based on it to be consistent with international law and the current legal regime governing the Caspian Sea, as defined in the 1921 and 1940 treaties between the Islamic Republic of Iran and the Soviet Union.
- 90. Secondly, by this protest note the Russian Federation confirms that it does not accept, recognize or agree to the territorial or jurisdictional claims of Turkmenistan.
- 91. Thirdly, the author State confirms its position that such claims have no basis in international law.
- 92. Fourthly, it confirms that the Russian Federation does not accept or recognize Turkmenistan's action based on legally unfounded territorial or jurisdictional claims.
- 93. Fifthly, the Russian Federation confirms its rights and in particular its right to exercise free navigation and fisheries (exploitation of living resources) in areas which are claimed by Turkmenistan to fall under its sovereignty or jurisdiction.
- 94. Sixthly, it is necessary to prevent a situation whereby silence on the part of the Russian Federation could be invoked against it in the future as a tacit acceptance of or acquiescence in the claims of Turkmenistan.
- 95. Lastly, the intent is to prepare the basis for eventual future diplomatic or legal counteraction.
- 96. The protest submitted would undeniably have a clear legal effect, based upon the content, objective and form of the act. It is a legal act in response to a previous domestic legal act (conduct on the part of Turkmenistan at the domestic level which has unavoidable consequences at the international level).
- 97. The protest note falls within a process of negotiations between the two States which is still in progress. The Special Rapporteur is not yet aware of any reaction on the part of the addressee.
- 98. Presumably the note has been neither modified nor revoked; the legal claim of the Russian Federation therefore remains in force.
- 99. The second diplomatic note sent by the Russian Federation, dated 21 November 1995, is addressed to Azerbaijan. Like the previous one, it is a protest note in response to the publication of the official draft Constitution, in which a part of the Caspian Sea is described as national territory.⁶⁸
- 100. The context of the note is similar to that of the one addressed to the Government of Turkmenistan, as described above.
- 101. The objective of the note is also similar.

- 102. The note was addressed to the Government of Azerbaijan via that country's Ministry of Foreign Affairs.
- 103. The protest presented would doubtless have a clear legal effect, based on the content, objective and form of the act. It is a legal act in response to a domestic legal act which could signify conduct by Azerbaijan at the international level.
- 104. The protest note falls within a process of negotiations between the two States which is still in progress. The Special Rapporteur is not yet aware of any reaction on the part of the addressee.
- 105. Presumably the note has been neither modified nor revoked; the legal claim of the Russian Federation therefore remains in force.

G. Statements made by nuclear-weapon States⁶⁹

- 106. In this section, the Special Rapporteur will consider statements made by nuclear-weapon States guaranteeing the non-use of such weapons against non-nuclear-weapon States. These are negative security guarantees, which have previously been considered by the Commission. Such statements were made by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Russian Federation to the Security Council on 5 April 1995; by the Permanent Representative of the United Kingdom to the Conference on Disarmament on 6 April 1995; by the United States Secretary of State on 5 April 1995; by the United States Secretary of State on 5 April 1995; by the Permanent Representative to the Conference; and by China on 5 April 1995.
- 107. The form that these acts took, as can be noted, was that of a statement made to international bodies, contained in official documents of the Security Council.
- 108. The object of all the statements is similar: non-use of nuclear weapons against non-nuclear-weapon States; in some cases, however, there are conditions: except in the case of an invasion or any other attack on it, its territory, its armed forces or other troops, or against its allies or a State to which it has a security commitment, carried out or sustained by such a State, in association or alliance with a nuclear-weapon State.
- 109. The objective in all cases, as referred to in the preceding paragraph, is to guarantee to States parties to the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons that nuclear weapons will not be used against them.

⁶⁷ See footnote 65 above.

⁶⁸ *Ibid*.

⁶⁹ Prepared on the basis of a contribution by Mr. Pellet.

⁷⁰ Official Records of the Security Council, Fiftieth Year, Supplement for April, May and June 1995, documents S/1995/261–265. In this regard, see García Rico, El uso de las armas nucleares y el derecho internacional, pp. 127–128.

⁷¹ S/1995/261, annex II.

⁷² S/1995/262, annex.

⁷³ S/1995/263, annex.

⁷⁴ S/1995/264, annex.

⁷⁵ S/1995/265, annex.

- 110. The act is addressed to non-nuclear-weapon States parties to the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons. The Chinese statement is made *erga omnes*.
- 111. The legal scope is, as previously indicated, to guarantee to those States the non-use of nuclear weapons against them. However,

exceptions could be made (except in the case of China) in case of invasion or any other attack against the nuclear Powers, their territory, their armed forces or their allies, or any State with which they have a security commitment, by a non-nuclear-weapon State in association or alliance with a nuclear-weapon State. Security Council resolution 984 (1995) is limited to demonstrating the commitment of the nuclear Powers, in case of use of such weapons against a non-nuclear-weapon State, to bring the situation to the attention of the Security Council in order to provide the necessary assistance to that State. ⁷⁶

- 112. The statements have not been the subject of any modifications, nor have they been revoked or terminated, and therefore they remain in force. However, on the occasion of the advisory opinion of 8 July 1996 in the *Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons* case, 77 the nuclear-weapon States emphasized that, in their opinion, "there are circumstances in which resort to nuclear weapons would be lawful". 78 It would appear that the opinions expressed by the nuclear Powers are mainly political statements which are not legally binding upon their authors.
- 113. Reactions from the addressees include that of Ukraine, which stated that "it would be better if these assurances could be given in the form of a joint declaration ... this could strengthen the psychological and political authority, as well as the efficiency, of such assurances".⁷⁹
- 114. For the Islamic Republic of Iran, for example, the statements should take the form of a negotiated and legally binding international instrument with a protocol annexed to the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons. For Romania, the statements constituted an important step that cannot be underestimated. Pakistan, for its part, declared that only unconditional guarantees of a legally binding character can effectively address the security concerns of non-nuclear-weapon States. For Malaysia, the form and content of the statements amplified the need for an internationally negotiated, legally binding instrument.⁸⁰
- 115. The attitude of the authors and the positions of most States appear to reflect the political nature of these statements, considered in previous years by the Commission, which expressed that same opinion on the subject.

H. Ihlen declaration of 22 July 191981

- 116. In this section, the Special Rapporteur will examine the oral declaration formulated by Mr. Ihlen, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Norway, concerning Denmark's sovereignty over Greenland, which was considered by PCIJ.⁸² The note has also been the subject of significant doctrinal studies.
- 117. The act in question was formulated by means of an oral declaration made by the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Norway and addressed to the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Denmark during a meeting between them. 83 The Norwegian Minister prepared a minute on the meeting for his Department that was transmitted to the Danish Minister.
- 118. During the meeting, the Danish Minister for Foreign Affairs first indicated that his country had no interests in Spitzbergen and would not be opposed to Norway exercising its sovereignty over that territory. Later, the Minister indicated that he wished to extend Denmark's economic and political interests to cover Greenland as a whole, that the United States was not opposed to that wish and that Denmark hoped that Norway would not have any objections either.
- 119. In response, Mr. Ihlen, the Norwegian Minister for Foreign Affairs, stated that "the Norwegian Government would not make any difficulties in the settlement of this question".⁸⁴
- 120. The meeting took place in the context of a wider discussion among States exercising sovereignty over Spitzbergen and Greenland. Denmark believed that if it did not interfere with Norway's wish to obtain sovereignty over Spitzbergen, Norway would not interfere with its own wish to exercise sovereignty over Greenland. In that connection, Denmark had sent a request to Norway and the United States. While the request made no specific mention of Denmark's wish to extend its sovereignty over Greenland, the United States interpreted it as such. In any event, the Norwegian Government was particularly interested in the east coast of Greenland, given the region's fishing and hunting opportunities.
- 121. The primary question that arises is whether the Ihlen declaration is a unilateral act, definitive and unconditional in nature, as Denmark believed it to be at the time, or, conversely, whether it is an act that can be classified as a formal agreement.
- 122. There is disagreement over how to characterize this oral declaration. For instance, NcNair does not believe that it is opposable by virtue of estoppel. Instead, that author takes the view that it was a negotiation that "resulted in

⁷⁶ García Rico, op. cit., p. 127.

⁷⁷ Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, Advisory Opinion, I.C.J. Reports 1996, p. 226.

⁷⁸ Statement by the United Kingdom, *I.C.J. Pleadings, Written Statements* (not yet published), para. 3.22. See also the statements made by France, the Russian Federation and the United States, *ibid.*, cited by García Rico, *op. cit.*, p. 127.

 $^{^{79}\} Official\ Records$ of the Security Council, Fiftieth Year, 3514th meeting.

⁸⁰ *Ibid.* Also worthy of note is the painstaking argumentation of Malaysia before ICJ concerning *Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapon*, referring to the contradictions into which the nuclear Powers fall when referring to the scope of the Treaty as regards the possession and use of nuclear weapons (*I.C.J. Pleadings, Written Statements*). See further García Rico, *op. cit.*, p. 127.

⁸¹ Prepared on the basis of information provided by Mr. Brownlie.

⁸² Legal Status of Eastern Greenland, Judgment, 1933, P.C.I.J. Series A/B, No. 53, pp. 69–70.

⁸³ Garner, "The international binding force of unilateral oral declarations" (dedicated in particular to the analysis of the PCIJ Judgment which formed the basis of the *Legal Status of Eastern Greenland* case).

⁸⁴ Legal Status of Eastern Greenland (see footnote 82 above), p. 70.

the formation of an international agreement".⁸⁵ In this connection, several authors, including McNair, regard the Ihlen declaration as an informal agreement. However, PCIJ is of the opinion that it is a unilateral act.

- 123. Although the Norwegian Government maintained that the Ihlen declaration must be viewed in the context of an agreement, PCIJ finally held that the intentionality of the declaration was clear. Its intention was to ensure that neither Denmark nor Norway would contest "Danish sovereignty over Greenland as a whole" nor occupy "a part of Greenland". 86
- 124. PCIJ considered it to be a unilateral act that was binding upon Norway in the event that Greenland was recognized as part of Danish territory, and its Judgment read as follows:

The Court considers it beyond all dispute that a reply of this nature given by the Minister for Foreign Affairs on behalf of his Government in response to a request by the diplomatic representative of a foreign Power, in regard to a question falling within his province, is binding upon the country to which the Minister belongs.⁸⁷

- 125. The PCIJ decision to consider the declaration an act with binding force is interesting, insofar as it constitutes one of the first examples of an international judicial body ruling on actions of a Minister for Foreign Affairs which may give rise to an international commitment that is binding upon the State represented, hence the relevance of its analysis.
- 126. The same is true in respect of the question of the form of the declaration. In this connection, the dissenting opinion of Mr. Anzilotti, which is included in the case file, is critical. He pointed out that "there does not seem to be any rule of international law requiring that agreements of this kind must necessarily be in writing, in order to be valid".⁸⁸

I. Truman Proclamation of 28 September 1945⁸⁹

127. In this section, the Special Rapporteur will examine the declaration of 28 September 1945 made by the President of the United States, Harry S. Truman, issued as a presidential proclamation and addressed to the international community.

128. The Proclamation states that:

[I]t is the view of the Government of the United States that the exercise of jurisdiction over the natural resources of the subsoil and sea bed of the continental shelf by the contiguous nation is reasonable and just, since the effectiveness of measures to utilize or conserve these resources would be contingent upon cooperation and protection from the shore, since the continental shelf may be regarded as an extension of the land-mass of the coastal nation and thus naturally appurtenant to it, since these resources frequently form a seaward extension of a pool or deposit lying within the territory, and since self-protection compels the coastal nation to keep close watch over activities off its shores which are of the nature necessary for utilization of these resources.⁹⁰

The Proclamation goes on to say that:

Having concern for the urgency of conserving and prudently utilizing its natural resources, the Government of the United States regards the natural resources of the subsoil and sea bed of the continental shelf beneath the high seas but contiguous to the coasts of the United States as appertaining to the United States, subject to its jurisdiction and control. In cases where the continental shelf extends to the shores of another State, or is shared with an adjacent State, the boundary shall be determined by the United States and the State concerned in accordance with equitable principles. The character as high seas of the waters above the continental shelf and the right to their free and unimpeded navigation are in no way thus affected. 91

- 129. The Proclamation deals with the management and exploitation of the resources of the seabed beneath the territorial sea, by the coastal State, a right accepted at the beginning of the twentieth century. By 1945 it was clear that the exploitation of the mineral resources of the continental shelf under the high seas—particularly petroleum resources—was not feasible on a significant scale, and in particular the United States was actively interested in offshore oil exploitation in the Gulf of Mexico and elsewhere.
- 130. The aim of the United States in issuing the Truman Proclamation was to establish its jurisdiction and control over the adjacent seabed of the continental shelf, and to establish that the sharing of the seabed with neighbouring States would be determined by mutual agreement in accordance with "equitable principles". The Proclamation was expressly not intended to affect the legal status of the high seas above the shelf and the right to "free and unimpeded navigation" in those waters.
- 131. Reaction to the Proclamation came from certain States, even though it was considered by the Commission when it prepared the draft conventions on the law of the sea and by ICJ, which refers to it in its Judgment of 1969 concerning the North Sea continental shelf, 92 which will be examined in due course.
- 132. Among the States which reacted was Mexico, a country adjacent to the United States, which issued a Presidential Declaration⁹³ one month later, incorporating its continental shelf into its national territory.
- 133. Within a short time, the principle contained in the Truman Proclamation became widely accepted. In 1951, the Commission included a provision in its draft articles on the continental shelf and related subjects which stipulated that "[t]he continental shelf is subject to the exercise by the coastal State of control and jurisdiction for the purpose of exploring it and exploiting its natural resources". Article 2, paragraph 1, of the Convention on the Continental Shelf states that "[t]he coastal State exercises over the continental shelf sovereign rights for the purpose of exploring it and exploiting its natural resources".
- 134. In its Judgment in the *North Sea Continental Shelf* case, ICJ also refers to the Truman Proclamation:

⁸⁵ McNair, op. cit., p. 10.

⁸⁶ Legal Status of Eastern Greenland (see footnote 82 above), p. 73.

⁸⁷ Ibid., p. 71.

⁸⁸ *Ibid.*, p. 91.

⁸⁹ Based on the contribution of Mr. Matheson.

⁹⁰ United States Statutes at Large, 1945, vol. 59, part 2 (Washington, D.C., United States Government Printing Office, 1946), p. 884.

⁹¹ Ibid., pp. 884-885.

⁹² North Sea Continental Shelf, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1969, p. 3.

⁹³ Laws and Regulations on the Regime of the High Seas, vol. I (United Nations publication, Sales No. 1951.V.2), p. 13.

⁹⁴ Yearbook ... 1951, vol. II, document A/1858, annex, p. 141.

A review of the genesis and development of the equidistance method of delimitation can only serve to confirm the foregoing conclusion. Such a review may appropriately start with the instrument, generally known as the "Truman Proclamation", issued by the Government of the United States on 28 September 1945. Although this instrument was not the first or only one to have appeared, it has in the opinion of the Court a special status. Previously, various theories as to the nature and extent of the rights relative to or exercisable over the continental shelf had been advanced by jurists, publicists and technicians. The Truman Proclamation however, soon came to be regarded as the starting point of the positive law on the subject, and the chief doctrine it enunciated, namely that of the coastal State as having an original, natural, and exclusive (in short a vested) right to the continental shelf off its shores, came to prevail over all others, being now reflected in Article 2 of the 1958 Geneva Convention on the Continental Shelf. With regard to the delimitation of lateral boundaries between the continental shelves of adjacent States, a matter which had given rise to some consideration on the technical, but very little on the juristic level, the Truman Proclamation stated that such boundaries "shall be determined by the United States and the State concerned in accordance with equitable principles". These two concepts, of delimitation by mutual agreement and delimitation in accordance with equitable principles, have underlain all the subsequent history of the subject. They were reflected in various other State proclamations of the period, and after, and in the later work on the subject.95

The Court goes on to say that:

This régime furnishes an example of a legal theory derived from a particular source that has secured a general following. As the Court has recalled in the first part of its Judgment, it was the Truman Proclamation of 28 September 1945 which was at the origin of the theory, whose special features reflect that origin.⁹⁶

- 135. The Truman Proclamation does not have a specific basis, apart from the aforementioned policies.
- 136. The Truman Proclamation was expanded upon in an executive order from the President, issued the same day, which places the natural resources of the adjacent continental shelf under the jurisdiction and control of the United States.⁹⁷ The Proclamation was later confirmed and complemented by the adoption of the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act, by the Congress of the United States.⁹⁸
- 137. The Truman Proclamation was not amended, revoked or denounced.

J. Statements concerning the United Nations and its staff members (tax exemptions and privileges)

138. Unlike most of the cases analysed in this report, in the example to be considered in this section the addressee is the United Nations (or other international organizations connected with it, such as specialized agencies and their staff members). This is perhaps the feature that distinguishes this unilateral act (consisting of a linked series of statements) from the other cases presented.⁹⁹

- 95 I.C.J. Reports 1969 (see footnote 92 above), pp. 32-33, para. 47.
- 96 Ibid., p. 53, para. 100.
- ⁹⁷ Executive Order No. 9633, reserving and placing certain resources of the continental shelf under the control of the Secretary of the Interior, *Laws and Regulations on the Regime of the High Seas* (see footnote 93 above), p. 41.
- ⁹⁸ United States Statutes at Large, 1953, vol. 67 (Washington, D.C., United States Government Printing Office, 1953), p. 462.
- ⁹⁹ The analysis of this case was provided by Ms. Torres Cazorla, Professor of International Law at the University of Málaga, Spain.

- 139. First of all, it should be noted that, since the various statements were spread out over time and were fairly similar in content, there are a number of dates to keep in mind when examining the content of the obligations that Switzerland claimed to assume.
- 140. The first of these dates is April 1946, when a statement was made by a Councillor of State of the Canton of Geneva as a member of the Swiss delegation in the negotiations leading to the adoption of the Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the United Nations.
- 141. The second date is 5 August 1946, when the head of the Federal Political Department released an official statement to the press.
- 142. Lastly, on 28 July 1955, nine years later, the latter statement was reiterated by the Swiss Federal Council in its message to the Federal Assembly. Hence, these three dates will help in determining the existence and content of the obligation assumed by Switzerland.
- 143. It will also be significant to identify the authors or organs who issued those statements and to determine whether they were competent to bind the State. The three acts considered will be analysed from a dual perspective: from the international perspective, considering by way of analogy the capacity to conclude international treaties as defined in the 1986 Vienna Convention, and from the domestic perspective, with reference to the Constitution of Switzerland at the time of the events in question.
- 144. Chronologically, the first of these statements was made by Mr. Perréard, a Councillor of State of the Canton of Geneva and also a member of the Swiss delegation charged with negotiating the Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the United Nations. At the international level, the latter function is the relevant one, since it is in the context of Mr. Perréard's duties as a member of the Swiss delegation that his actions have weight.
- 145. In that regard, it should be recalled that article 7, paragraph 2, of the 1986 Vienna Convention states:

In virtue of their functions and without having to produce full powers, the following are considered as representing their State:

- (c) representatives accredited by States to an international organization or one of its organs, for the purpose of adopting the text of a treaty in that organization or organ.
- 146. At the domestic level, Mr. Perréard held the office of Councillor of State of one of the cantons (specifically, the Canton of Geneva, where the United Nations had and still has an office). Article 9 of the Constitution of Switzerland, in the version in force at the time the statement was made (the 1874 Constitution) states:

In special cases, the Cantons retain the right of concluding treaties with foreign Powers upon the subjects of public economic regulation, cross-frontier intercourse, and police relations; but such treaties shall

contain nothing repugnant to the Confederation, or to the rights of other Cantons. 100

- 147. Does it follow, therefore, that the statement made by Mr. Perréard fell within the powers that the Constitution of Switzerland or the laws of the country had accorded him? A look at the text of the statement may shed some light on the question. In the course of the negotiations, he stated that "the Geneva authorities were prepared to grant the United Nations the benefit of the same exemptions and the same privileges as had previously been granted to other international institutions".¹⁰¹
- 148. Mr. Perréard said that the "Geneva authorities", that is, the authorities of the canton¹⁰² he represented, could offer the United Nations the privileges and exemptions enjoyed previously by other international institutions (with a clear allusion to the *modus vivendi* of 1921–1926, as amended in 1928, between the League of Nations and Switzerland, ¹⁰³ discussed below.
- 149. The second of these statements was made at the Swiss Confederation level by Mr. Petitpierre, the head of the Federal Political Department, following a meeting with Trygve Lie, the Secretary-General of the United Nations at that time, on 5 August 1946. The content of the statement (which was placed in a more formal context by being embodied in an official press release) was broader than the first statement, in that it did not refer solely to the Canton of Geneva but to the Swiss authorities in general.¹⁰⁴
- 150. Nine years later, the Swiss Federal Council, in its message to the Federal Assembly on 28 July 1955,

again referred to the legal status in Switzerland of the United Nations, its specialized agencies and other international organizations. According to the version of the Constitution then in force, under article 95: "The supreme directing and executive power in the Confederation is exercised by a Federal Council composed of seven members." One of the functions of the Council under article 102 of the 1874 Constitution is to deal with foreign policy and international treaties. That being the case, the Council was fully competent to declare the following:

[W]e have given the United Nations the assurance that it would benefit from a regime at least as favourable, in all respects, as that granted to any other international organization in Swiss territory. In other words, the United Nations may ask to be granted the benefit of any advantage, not specified in the provisional arrangement, that we would grant to another international organization. ¹⁰⁸

- 151. It should be noted that the above-mentioned three statements all took different forms: an oral statement, a press release and a message from the Federal Council to the Federal Assembly. The latter, the message from the Council, is readily accessible, since it was published in the *Feuille fédérale* (see footnote 105). As with the French declarations in the *Nuclear Tests* cases, in this case there were a series of acts or statements that formed a single unilateral act, even though the statements were not identical, as will be demonstrated below.
- 152. It is noticeable that the statements evolved over time and space, resulting in an increasingly favourable regime for the United Nations and its staff members. As early as 1949 the trend attracted comment in the legal literature; one author specifically said that "the system granted by the Swiss Federal Council has not undergone any reduction, the very reverse in fact, it has grown in some areas". ¹⁰⁹ The statements in question mark that trend.
- 153. The context and circumstances in which the statements in question were made were quite specific. Although from today's perspective it could be said that the legal regimes applicable to international organizations with headquarters in Switzerland are the same, 110 since Switzerland applies the principle of equal treatment, the systems followed are not identical in terms of their basis. For some organizations, the origin of this treatment is to be found in a regime that dates back to 1921 and was applicable to the League of Nations and ILO (the previously cited *modus vivendi* of 1921–1926, as amended in 1928). The first headquarters agreement following the Second World War in which the matter was dealt with was the agreement concluded with the Swiss Federal Council

¹⁰⁰ This article should be read in conjunction with article 10 of the same Constitution, which states:

[&]quot;Official relationships between a Canton and a foreign Government or its representatives take place through the intermediacy of the Federal Council.

[&]quot;Nevertheless, upon the subjects mentioned in Article 9, the Cantons may correspond directly with the inferior authorities and the officials of a foreign State."

⁽Hughes, The Federal Constitution of Switzerland: Translation and Commentary, p. 12)

¹⁰¹ Quoted by Caflisch, "La pratique suisse en matière de droit international public 1982", p. 182.

¹⁰² As Pérez points out in *The System of Privileges and Immunities applicable to the International Organisations in Switzerland and to the Permanent Foreign Delegations in Geneva*, p. 38:

[&]quot;In a federal State such as Switzerland, there is no such thing as a single tax system applicable throughout the territory. The collection of taxes, dues, charges and fees is in the parallel jurisdictions of the Swiss Confederation, cantons and municipalities. Because of this structure, the tax privileges in general may differ in scope and extent depending on the holder's place of residence. This is the case in particular for charges and fees, which vary appreciably from canton to canton. However, there is no doubt that the tax exemption provided under the Vienna Convention and the headquarters agreements apply to the three levels of taxation."

The information was taken by the author from Bourgnon, La Convention de Vienne sur les relations diplomatiques: Pratique Suisse", p. 93.

 $^{^{103}}$ League of Nations, *Official Journal*, 7th Year, No. 10 (October 1926), pp. 1407 and 1422; and *ibid.*, 9th Year, No. 6 (June 1928), p. 839.

¹⁰⁴ The press release stated that "the Swiss authorities are prepared to grant the United Nations and its staff members treatment at least as favourable as the treatment granted any other international organization on Swiss territory" (Caflisch, *loc. cit.*, p. 183).

¹⁰⁵ Feuille fédérale, No. 35, 107th year, vol. II (Bern, 2 September 1955), p. 393.

¹⁰⁶ Hughes, op. cit., p. 106.

¹⁰⁷ *Ibid.*, p. 111. Article 102, paragraph 7, states: "It examines the treaties which Cantons make with each other or with foreign countries, and sanctions them if they are allowable (Article 85, Section 5)."

¹⁰⁸ See footnote 104 above.

¹⁰⁹ As stated by Perrénoud in his concluding remarks, *Régime des Privilèges et Immunités des Missions diplomatiques étrangères et des Organisations internationales en Suisse*, p. 242, quoted in Pérez, *op. cit.*, p. 62, who gives a complete treatment of the topic.

¹¹⁰ See Pérez, op. cit., p. 19.

on 11 March 1946 (one month prior to the first of the statements under discussion) to regulate the legal status of ILO in Switzerland. Article 16 of the agreement reads as follows:

The Director of the International Labour Office and officials of the categories designated by him and agreed to by the Swiss Federal Council shall enjoy the privileges, immunities, exemptions and facilities granted to diplomatic agents in accordance with international law and custom.¹¹¹

Article 17, entitled "Immunities and facilities accorded to all officials", states as follows:

All officials of the International Labour Office, irrespective of nationality, shall enjoy the following immunities and facilities:

- (a) exemption from jurisdiction for all acts performed in the discharge of their duties;
- (b) exoneration from all federal, cantonal and communal taxes on salaries, emoluments and indemnities paid to them by the International Labour Organisation. 112
- 154. In order to analyse the legal effects of the statements in question, several documents must be considered that provide clues as to the approach taken by Switzerland in this regard. The first is the note dated 2 April 1979 from the International Law Directorate of the Federal Political Department, in which it confirmed

the binding nature of the statement made by Mr. Petitpierre on 5 August 1946 to Mr. Trygve Lie. As a result of the undertaking made by the head of the Political Department, the United Nations has been granted the benefit of the "most-favoured-organization clause" and was thus authorized to demand the most favourable treatment that may be granted to another organization. ¹¹³

155. A report of the Joint Inspection Unit entitled "Review of the Headquarters Agreements Concluded by the Organizations of the United Nations System: Human Resources Issues Affecting Staff" (JIU/REP/2004/2)¹¹⁴ sheds light on Switzerland's practice in this regard. Referring to the principle of "most favoured treatment", it states:

The adoption of the principle of most favoured treatment of international organizations would mean that any relevant arrangements and facilities granted by the host country of a given organization, but not enjoyed by organizations within the United Nations system, would automatically apply to all organizations within that particular host country. This would ensure continuous updating and modernizing of the headquarters agreements following, for example, the current practice of the Swiss Federal Government.*¹¹⁵

156. The same report gives a historical overview of existing agreements and specifically refers to the practice of Switzerland in that regard in the section on practice before and after the 1940s, as follows:

The Universal Postal Union (UPU) noted that it does not have a separate headquarters agreement with Switzerland. Given the position of UPU as a United Nations specialized agency, the Government of Switzerland decided that as of January 1948, the Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the United Nations concluded in

1946 between the Swiss Federal Council ... and the United Nations Secretary-General, would be applied by analogy to UPU, its organs, the representatives of its Member States, to experts and to the staff members of the organization. The Parliament approved the decision in 1955. Since the application of the Swiss authorities' principle of equality of treatment of international organizations, the status of UPU is currently considered identical to other Swiss-based organizations. ¹¹⁶

This practice has continued to be followed with other international organizations and their staff members, as described in the aforesaid report, even going beyond the provisions of their individual headquarters agreements.¹¹⁷

K. Conduct of Cambodia and Thailand with reference to the *Temple of Preah Vihear* case¹¹⁸

- 157. Following this examination of a number of explicit acts or declarations constituting unilateral acts, as will be seen below, the final example to be examined in this chapter involves the conduct of Cambodia and Thailand between 1908 and 1909 and between 1908 and 1958 as considered by ICJ in connection with the *Temple of Preah Vihear* case. 119
- 158. This example, of course, does not involve a unilateral act *sensu stricto*, but rather State conduct that produced certain legal effects, in the view of ICJ.
- 159. The international legal literature has extensively discussed this conduct. The conduct in question relates to categories of silence, acceptance, acquiescence and estoppel, all forms of unilateral conduct of States that undoubtedly produce legal effects similar to the effects of an act considered as an expression of will formulated with the intention of producing legal effects.
- 160. ICJ considered the concept of estoppel, as can be seen from the passage from its decision transcribed below, even though nowhere does it refer to the concept by name: 120

The Court will now state the conclusions it draws from the facts as above set out.

Even if there were any doubt as to Siam's acceptance of the map in 1908, and hence of the frontier indicated thereon, the Court would consider, in the light of the subsequent course of events, that Thailand is now precluded by her conduct from asserting that she did not accept it. She has, for fifty years, enjoyed such benefits as the Treaty of 1904 conferred on her, if only the benefit of a stable frontier. France, and through her Cambodia, relied on Thailand's acceptance of the map. Since neither side can plead error, it is immaterial whether or not this reliance was based on a belief that the map was correct. It is not now open to Thailand, while continuing to claim and enjoy the benefits of the settlement, to deny that she was ever a consenting party to it. 121

¹¹¹ United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 15, No. 103, pp. 389 and 391.

¹¹² *Ibid.*, p. 391.

¹¹³ Caflisch, loc. cit., p. 186.

¹¹⁴ A/59/526, prepared by Ion Gorita and Wolfgang Münch, Joint Inspection Unit (Geneva, 2004).

¹¹⁵ A/59/526, p. vii.

¹¹⁶ A/59/526, para. 9; see also paragraph 10, which discusses WHO in similar terms.

 $^{^{117}\,} The$ report discusses the issue in a number of places, including paragraphs 15, 19, 86, 88–92, 99–100 and 116–117.

¹¹⁸ Based on the contribution provided by Mr. Brownlie.

¹¹⁹ *I.C.J. Reports 1962* (see footnote 13 above), p. 6.

¹²⁰ See, among others, Jennings, *The Acquisition of Territory in International Law*, pp. 47–49; Cot, "L'arrêt de la Cour internationale de Justice dans l'affaire du temple de Préah Vihéar (Cambodge c. Thaïlande: Fond)", p. 244; and Pecourt García, "El principio del 'estoppel' y la sentencia del Tribunal Internacional de Justicia en el caso del Templo de Preah Vihear".

¹²¹ *I.C.J. Reports 1962* (see footnote 13 above), p. 32; see also Thirlway, "The law and procedure of the International Court of Justice 1960–1989", p. 33.

161. It is interesting to note that in the ICJ reasoning the elements of estoppel and acquiescence are combined, as Sir Gerald Fitzmaurice points out in his separate opinion:

The principle of preclusion is the nearest equivalent in the field of international law to the common-law rule of estoppel, though perhaps not applied under such strict limiting conditions (and it is certainly applied as a rule of substance and not merely as one of evidence or procedure). It is quite distinct theoretically from the notion of acquiescence. But acquiescence can operate as a preclusion or estoppel in certain cases, for instance where silence, on an occasion where there was a duty or need to speak or act, implies agreement, or a waiver of rights, and can be regarded as a representation to that effect. 122

162. A second basis for the ICJ decision was the subsequent conduct of Thailand, which, together with that of Cambodia, "in effect" constituted a boundary agreement. In that regard, the Court considered

that Thailand in 1908–1909 did accept the Annex I map as representing the outcome of the work of delimitation, and hence recognized the line on that map as being the frontier line, the effect of which is to situate Preah Vihear in Cambodian territory. The Court considers further that, looked at as a whole, Thailand's subsequent conduct confirms and bears out her original acceptance, and that Thailand's acts on the ground do not suffice to negative this. Both Parties, by their conduct, recognized the line and thereby in effect agreed to regard it as being the frontier line. ¹²⁴

- 163. From a reading of the above-cited paragraph it is clear that a fundamental issue underlying the decision was the consideration of silence as acquiescence.¹²⁵
- 164. ICJ also invoked positive acts by Thailand indicating adoption of the map in 1908. The Court pointed out that:

It has been contended on behalf of Thailand that this communication of the maps by the French authorities was, so to speak, *ex parte*, and that no formal acknowledgment of it was either requested of, or given by, Thailand. In fact, as will be seen presently, an acknowledgment by conduct was undoubtedly made in a very definite way; but even if it were otherwise, it is clear that the circumstances were such as called for some reaction, within a reasonable period, on the part of the Siamese authorities, if they wished to disagree with the map or had any serious question to raise in regard to it. They did not do so, either then or for many years, and thereby must be held to have acquiesced. *Qui tacet consentire videtur si loqui debuisset ac potuisset*.¹²⁶

165. The grounds for the ICJ decision also included the element of acceptance (based on conduct), which modified the 1904 boundary treaty. In the Court's opinion:

There is finally one further aspect of the case with which the Court feels it necessary to deal. The Court considers that the acceptance of the Annex I map by the Parties caused the map to enter the treaty settlement and to become an integral part of it. It cannot be said that this process involved a departure from, and even a violation of, the terms of the Treaty of 1904, wherever the map line diverged from the line of the watershed, for, as the Court sees the matter, the map (whether in all respects accurate by reference to the true watershed line or not) was accepted by the Parties in 1908 and thereafter as constituting the result of the interpretation given by the two Governments to the delimitation which the Treaty itself required. In other words, the Parties at that time adopted an interpretation of the treaty settlement which caused the map line, in so far as it may have departed from the line of the watershed, to prevail over the relevant clause of the treaty. Even if, however, the Court were called upon to deal with the matter now as one solely of ordinary treaty interpretation, it considers that the interpretation to be given would be the same, for the following reasons.

166. It is worth stressing another aspect that ICJ noted, namely, that in this context the concepts of estoppel or acquiescence mingle with the general rule of recourse to the subsequent practice of the parties as a means of interpretation of a treaty.¹²⁸

167. ICJ pointed out in that regard:

Thailand contends that since 1908, and at any rate up to her own 1934-1935 survey, she believed that the map line and watershed line coincided, and therefore that if she accepted the map line, she did so only in that belief. It is evident that such a contention would be quite inconsistent with Thailand's equally strongly advanced contention that these acts in the concrete exercise of sovereignty evidenced her belief that she had sovereignty over the Temple area: for if Thailand was truly under a misapprehension about the Annex I line—if she really believed it indicated the correct watershed line—then she must have believed that, on the basis of the map and her acceptance of it, the Temple area lay rightfully in Cambodia. If she had ... accepted the Annex I map only because she thought it was correct—then her acts on the ground would have to be regarded as deliberate violations of the sovereignty which (on the basis of the assumptions above stated) she must be presumed to have thought Cambodia to possess. The conclusion is that Thailand cannot allege that she was under any misapprehension in accepting the Annex I line, for this is wholly inconsistent with the reason she gives for her acts on the ground, namely that she believed herself to possess sovereignty in this area.12

CHAPTER II

Conclusions that can be drawn from the statements analysed

168. From the statements, acts and conduct examined above—which, of course, provide only a few examples of State practice, analysed in detail in accordance with the criteria established by the Commission at its fifty-sixth session, in 2004—a few conclusions can be drawn that may make it possible to formulate some basic principles derived from this practice. As will be seen, some of these principles are based on draft articles submitted by the Special Rapporteur in earlier reports and on some of the

guidelines established by the Working Group on unilateral acts of States at its meetings. Some of the ideas which emerge from the analysis concern the formulation of acts and, in particular, their definition, the capacity of the State and the capacity of the organ making the statement.

169. It should first be noted that the examples given are unilateral acts expressed in very different ways, including official notes, public declarations, presidential

¹²² I.C.J. Reports 1962 (see footnote 13 above), p. 62.

¹²³ *Ibid.*, p. 33.

¹²⁴ Ibid., pp. 32-33.

¹²⁵ See Cahier, "Le comportement des États comme source de droits et d'obligations", pp. 248–249; and Sinclair, "Estoppel and acquiescence", p. 110.

¹²⁶ I.C.J. Reports 1962 (see footnote 13 above), p. 23.

¹²⁷ *Ibid.*, pp. 33–34.

¹²⁸ See, in this regard, Cot, "L'arrêt de la Cour ...", pp. 235–240, and Thirlway, *loc. cit.*, pp. 47–49.

¹²⁹ I.C.J. Reports 1962 (see footnote 13 above), p. 33.

proclamations, political speeches and even conduct signifying acceptance or acquiescence, which will be discussed separately at the end of this chapter.

- 170. The first conclusion that can be drawn is that the form is relatively unimportant in determining whether what is being dealt with is a unilateral legal act of the type in which the Commission is interested—in other words, an act that can produce legal effects on its own without the need for its acceptance, or for any other reaction on the part of the addressee, as ICJ established in the Nuclear Tests cases (a decision discussed in previous reports). However, it may still be considered that the formality of the act has a role to play in determining the intent of its author. An oral statement made in an informal context may be less clear, in that regard, than an oral statement made before an international body or than a diplomatic note, which is of course drafted in a more formal manner and is therefore clearer, since the addressee can have direct access to its content. The form can have an impact insofar as a statement may be considered to produce legal effects.
- 171. Secondly, it can be seen that these are acts formulated by States: Colombia, Cuba, Egypt, France, Jordan, Norway, the Russian Federation, Switzerland and the United States. The addressee of these acts also varies widely: they may be addressed to other States, the international community, an entity which has not yet been consolidated as a State (a State in *statu nascendi*) or an international organization.
- 172. It may be inferred from this that, as in the sphere of the law of treaties, the State is endowed with international capacity—which is intrinsic to it—to commit itself or develop legal relations at the international level through unilateral acts. The provision relating to the "capacity of the State" to conclude treaties, contained in article 6 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (hereinafter the 1969 Vienna Convention), might therefore be fully transferable to any legal regime on unilateral acts which may be established.
- 173. The acts considered were addressed to other States; however, in the *Nuclear Tests* cases, negative security guarantees, the Truman Proclamation and the waiver of claims to the West Bank territories, such acts were addressed to the international community. It might also be said that the statements concerning negative security guarantees were formulated *erga omnes*, within the framework of international bodies and in the context of the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons.
- 174. It may also be concluded that the act of the State can be addressed not only to another State but to other entities, as in the case of Jordan's act and even the declarations of Switzerland—subjects of international law, in any case.
- 175. In most cases, these acts have a single origin; in others, however, they are compound, not single acts. This means that in some cases, the act is formulated through a declaration made by a person who is in principle competent to do so, while in others, it is formulated through several declarations which jointly give rise to its overall content. This is usually highly relevant, especially for the

purposes of interpreting a unilateral act, its content and the subjective factors associated with the consent of the State formulating the act to be bound by it.

- 176. A declaration may consist of a single act, as in the case of the Ihlen declaration, the note from Colombia, the Declaration by Egypt, the Truman Proclamation and the protest notes from the Russian Federation. In other cases the act consists of several declarations, as with the declarations by the French authorities concerning their nuclear tests. And to some extent, although, as stated earlier, they were not identical in content, the declarations of various Swiss officials constitute a single unilateral act.
- 177. Some cases involve diplomatic notes, as with Colombia and the protest notes from the Russian Federation; a declaration, as with the French authorities and the nuclear Powers; a presidential proclamation; an official speech, such as that of the King of Jordan and even statements made at meetings of international bodies; and official communications, such as the communiqué from the Swiss Federal Political Department.
- 178. The acts and declarations considered were formulated on behalf of the State by different authorities and individuals: in the case of the Colombian note and the Norwegian declaration of 22 July 1919, by the Ministers for Foreign Affairs; in the case of the Truman Proclamation, by a Head of State; in the case of the Jordanian declaration, by the monarch (Head of State); in the case of the Declaration by Egypt, by the executive branch; and in the case of the Russian Federation protests, by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.
- 179. In the case of the most-favoured-nation clause, the act was formulated by a local authority of the Canton of Geneva and was later confirmed by the Federal Government. This might lead to considering the possibility, already raised in previous reports, that other persons might be authorized to formulate an act and commit the State on behalf of which they are acting if such a personal capacity can be inferred from practice. In the case of the declarations by Switzerland, a delegate to a negotiating process formulated the act initially, although it would later be confirmed by the Federal Political Department; this does not provide absolute certainty with respect to such capacity, but rather corroborates or confirms it.
- 180. This issue of authorized persons has an important parallel in the Vienna treaty regime. Thus, the preceding remarks concerning the capacity of the Head of State, the Head of Government and the Minister for Foreign Affairs are valid in determining the persons authorized in the first instance to act at the international level and commit the State through the formulation of a unilateral act.
- 181. This assertion, however, does not necessarily lead to the application *mutatis mutandis* of the 1969 Vienna Convention. Unilateral acts are formulated in a particular manner; it would therefore seem that the rules governing their formulation should be more flexible, although those relating to their interpretation may be considered more strictly. In addition to the persons authorized under international law to act and commit the State which they represent at the international level, as recognized in the

Convention, there may be other persons who are empowered to act in a similar manner if the addressee considers that such a person is, in effect, authorized to do so. This reflects the basis for consideration of the topic: legal security and mutual confidence in international relations.

- 182. In every case—with the exception of the Truman Proclamation, which is not part of specific negotiations—these are declarations linked in some way to negotiations on a specific issue, such as the declarations made by France, the nuclear Powers, the King of Jordan, the Colombian note of 1952, the protest notes by the Russian Federation, and the acts of Swiss officials in connection with the granting of most-favoured-nation status.
- 183. Some of these acts are clearly unilateral, such as the Russian Federation's protests and the French statements on the nuclear tests, while others might be considered differently, such as the Colombian Government's note of 22 November 1952 and the oral statement made by the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Norway on 22 July 1919, which may have elements more closely related to the conventional framework.
- 184. Colombia's act might be considered in various ways. First, it might be viewed in the context of bilateral relations and thus simply be the result of negotiations between two countries. In that regard, the terms of Venezuela's reply should be noted: "My Government fully agrees with the terms of Your Excellency's note". 130
- 185. This note might also constitute a genuine unilateral act which produces effects at the time of its formulation, as was clear to Venezuela. This means that, as ICJ held in the *Nuclear Tests* cases, the act would produce effects without the need for a reply from Venezuela. The origin of the act and its legal effects came into being at the time Venezuela was notified, regardless of its reaction. As has been seen, different opinions, including that of the Colombian Government, were presented during the proceedings in the Council of State.
- 186. PCIJ considered the Ihlen declaration to be unilateral, but some scholars see it as part of an agreement between two countries.
- 187. The Truman Proclamation and the statements made by the French authorities concerning the suspension of nuclear tests might be viewed as unilateral *sensu stricto* since they have been considered to produce legal effects without the need for a reaction from the addressee(s).
- 188. Furthermore, some unilateral declarations may not be considered as having a strictly legal character; this is true, for example, of the statements on negative security guarantees made by the nuclear Powers. These take the form of unilateral declarations, but many believe that they are really political in nature. This view is based on the fact that the authors themselves and the addressees have not been unanimous in considering them to be legally binding declarations. In this regard, it is noteworthy that the Conference on Disarmament has long proposed developing an agreement on that issue; this suggests that unilateral

- declarations are not viewed as legal in nature but rather, as has been mentioned, as political declarations of intent.
- 189. An important question arises with respect to the validity of the act, its invalidation on the grounds that it is contrary to domestic constitutional norms, and the possibility of its confirmation through subsequent acts. The capacity and competence of the organ, two questions which are closely linked but of course separate, is another of the most difficult aspects of consideration of the topic.
- 190. With regard to Colombia's note of 22 November 1952, for example, the question of the validity of the act might be raised, since boundary issues must be submitted to Congress for approval. Despite the official's unquestionable capacity, the specific case, which concerns boundaries and therefore territorial integrity, might require such approval; this relates to the organ's competence to formulate a unilateral legal act.
- 191. In the case of the public declaration by the King of Jordan, this is an act prohibited under domestic law. In this particular case, it might be concluded that the act was confirmed by Jordan's subsequent acts, which would preclude the possibility of its invalidation.
- 192. In both cases, there appears to have been tacit confirmation of the act, in the first case through the Government's attitude and, in the second, through the promulgation of several laws.
- 193. Consideration of the acts which are of concern involves only acts formulated by States and therefore excludes those of international organizations and those which may be formulated by other subjects of international law. However, acts formulated by a State and addressed to an international organization are considered, since it is possible for a State to develop unilateral legal relations with subjects other than a State.
- 194. Another relevant question which arises during the consideration of such acts is the need to establish the moment at which they produce legal effects. It is assumed that they can produce such effects as from the time of their formulation without the need for their acceptance or for any reaction conveying such acceptance, as has been noted. In the cases considered, it seems difficult to determine the moment at which an act produces legal effects.
- 195. For example, Colombia's note of 22 November 1952 seems to have produced effects from the time it was formulated, although it might also be considered that, *de facto*, it did not produce effects until the addressee—in this case, the Ambassador of Venezuela—received it or until receipt of the note was acknowledged. This would, to a great extent, be consistent with consideration of the note as a unilateral act *sensu stricto* or as an act incorporated into treaty relations.
- 196. The Russian Federation's protests, if considered as such, could be said to have produced an immediate effect inherent in the act of protest—in other words, at the time they were formulated and brought to the addressee's attention. The Russian Federation would be viewed as having been obliged to protest—not to remain silent—when faced

¹³⁰ Vázquez Carrizosa, op. cit., p. 340.

with the actions of Azerbaijan and Turkmenistan. In this case, silence could have provided a basis for establishing acquiescence to the claims made by these two countries.

- 197. It must be stressed that, despite the apparent intention not to produce legal effects, such effects are sometimes produced where the circumstances surrounding the declaration allow the addressee to conclude in good faith that the declaring State was bound by its declaration, as was held in the *Nuclear Tests* cases.
- 198. As for whether the acts considered were modified or revoked, it will be noted that they have for the most part been maintained as regards their content; the declarations by different Swiss authorities may constitute amendments, but this should not affect their nature as a single unilateral act.
- 199. In the case of the promise contained in France's statements, ICJ ruled, on the basis of those statements, that France should conduct itself in accordance with their content. Thus, the declarations gave rise to clear obligations for France.
- 200. The acts of Colombia and Jordan also have clear, important legal consequences arising from renunciation and recognition, institutions which have been widely recognized and studied in international doctrine.
- 201. In the case of the statements made by the nuclear-weapon States, these are guarantees which may also produce legal effects if it is concluded that the declarations are legal and therefore binding on these countries in that respect. This position has been defended by various States before ICJ; however, the position taken by the States which formulated the declarations, and their conditional nature, make it impossible to state that they are mandatory in the absolute sense.
- 202. Only in the cases concerning the conduct of Cambodia and Thailand, the *Temple of Preah Vihear* case, the Ihlen declaration and France's statements in the context of the *Nuclear Tests* cases, have the actions in question been reviewed by an international court. Reference was made to the Truman Proclamation in one case considered by ICJ, the *North Sea Continental Shelf* case.¹³¹
- 203. Lastly, some comments will be made concerning the conduct of Cambodia and Thailand, which was considered

by ICJ in the *Temple of Preah Vihear* case. In that connection it should be noted that, without constituting unilateral acts within the strict meaning of the term in which the Commission is interested, such conduct may produce relevant legal effects as the Court found in this case.

- 204. The *Temple of Preah Vihear* case shows the extremely close relationship between the various forms of State conduct: estoppel, silence and acquiescence. A similar relationship may exist between the effects of the conduct of parties to a treaty. Silence and acquiescence formed the basis of the relations between the parties during the proceedings.
- 205. In a case such as this, the relevant issue is not the formulation of a unilateral act, but rather the silence, the passage of time, which may give rise to the assumption that this state of affairs is accepted as such. The absence of protest at this situation and repeated conduct consistent with this state of affairs is what produces, or may produce, legal effects.
- 206. The concern expressed by the members of the Working Group on unilateral acts of States at its 2003 meeting, when its conclusions mentioned the need for the Special Rapporteur to take conduct into account in his future work, ¹³² is based on the need to make it clear to States that even their failure to act (especially when they should have expressed opposition) can produce legal effects. There is no question of assimilating such conduct—whether active or passive—to unilateral acts *sensu stricto*, but merely of pointing out its implications.
- 207. This report may serve as a basis for progress in work on the topic, despite its complexity. As suggested in the Sixth Committee, ¹³³ the Commission might consider adopting a definition of unilateral acts, perhaps accompanied by a "without prejudice" clause concerning the unilateral conduct of States, which, while important and capable of producing legal effects similar to unilateral acts, is different in nature.
- 208. After this year's discussion, the Commission might also consider some of the draft articles already referred to the Drafting Committee, particularly those involving issues raised in the preceding paragraphs, separately from the study of practice.

¹³¹ See footnote 92 above.

 $^{^{132}}$ Yearbook ... 2003, vol. II (Part Two), p. 57, para. 306, recommendation 2.

¹³³ See footnote 5 above.